T EOEEREAR R
China Infrastructure Investment Limited
Stock Code R%13 X5%: 600

I




CONTENTS
H &%

Corporate Information

Chairman’s Statement

Management Discussion and Analysis
Corporate Governance Report

Directors and Senior Management

Directors’ Report

Independent Auditors’ Report

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Five Years Financial Summary

Group Properties

BEENERERRE

EFEEeRE

VR R GRS

AR A SRR M

hFEMBRHRE

SEYE

12

28

32

42

46

47

48

50

52

54

138

139

PEREEZREARLT
“E-AFFR



CORPORATE INFORMATION

=] >\

NEEFR

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

YE De Chao (Chairman)
(redesignated on 9 March 2015)
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

XU Xiao Jun (Chief Executive Officer)
(redesignated on 9 March 2015)

JI Xu Dong

ZHU Hai Hua (resigned on 9 March 2015)

(Vice Chairman)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

HE Jin Geng*
YU Hong Gao*
CHEN Yang*

(*  Members of Audit Committee)

COMPANY SECRETARY

TSO Ping Cheong Brian

SOLICITORS

Reed Smith Richards Butler

AUDITORS

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2015

EEXg
BITESE -

E S (Z/E)
(R-—FE—AF=HNLHEL)

(F/EFTEAEZ)

UNES (7TB#EE)
(R=—F—AFE=ANAET)

FIER

K (R—F—AFE=FNAFT)
(BI£/E)

BUHBITESE -

Gl

AR

BRIF#

(* FEZREKER)

DNEMWE

EEER
BT B RAT
D

FTTER S ERMERAR
XS AN



Corporate Information
NEER

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cayman Islands

The R&H Trust Co. Ltd.
Windward 1, Regatta Office Park
Grand Cayman

Cayman Islands

Hong Kong
Suite 1205, 12/F,, Tower 6, The Gateway
9 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon
Hong Kong

SHARE REGISTRARS & TRANSFER
OFFICE

Principal Share Registrar

The R&H Trust Co. Ltd.
Windward 1, Regatta Office Park
Grand Cayman

Cayman Islands

Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar
Boardroom Share Registrars (HK) Limited
31/F., 148 Electric Road

North Point
Hong Kong

BANKERS

Bank of Communications Company Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
The Shanghai Commercial Bank Limited

Wing Hang Bank, Limited

STOCK CODE

00600

WEBSITE

http://www.china-infrastructure.com

SRR

BE#HS

The R&H Trust Co. Ltd.
Windward 1, Regatta Office Park
Grand Cayman

Cayman Islands

ZE

BB
NBERDHEERE W
BEAE6E 1211205 F

RPBFETRE

FERGELE

The R&H Trust Co. Ltd.
Windward 1, Regatta Office Park
Grand Cayman

Cayman Islands

BERGBFELSE
EREREFETLBRAT
B

it A

ERE 148573112

EREBAT

TBBITRGERAT

B LSELRTERAT

BT RRITARAT

KEBITERAT
AN

00600

48 1k

http://www.china-infrastructure.com

PEREEZREARLT
“E-AFFR



4

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERW|E

On behalf of the board of directors of China Infrastructure Investment
Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present the final results of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2015.

ANNUAL RESULTS

The turnover of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015
was approximately HK$22,133,000, as compared with approximately
HK$43,966,000 in 2014. The Group had exerted stringent cost control
during the year so as to reduce the general and administrative costs
from approximately HK$18,126,000 for the year ended 31 December
2014 to approximately HK$11,544,000 this year, being 36.3%
deduction. The profit attributable to owners of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2015 was approximately HK$5,249,000,
compared with the profit attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$16,370,000 over the corresponding period of
2014.

The principal assets of Forward Investment (PRC) Company Limited
(“Forward Investment”) is the 100% equity interests in B RZEME
FIE 2GR A7 (Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property Company Limited*)
(“Nanjing Taihe Yingke”), which main asset is a complex development
project (the “Jiangning Project”) located in Jiangning Development
Zone, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, the PRC. The Jiangning Project
is designed as a composite complex comprising two towers of
commercial space and service apartments. A six-storey tower with
a planned gross floor area of 39,241.48 square metres is planned to
house the commercial space, and an 18-storey tower with a planned
gross floor area of 20,882.52 square metres is planned to house
the service apartments. The total planned gross floor area of the
Jiangning Project is approximately 74,642.00 square metres which
includes a basement of approximately 14,518.00 square metres, and
land use rights of approximately 20,050.90 square metres.
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

The construction progress and the pre-sale of commercial building
developed by Nanjing Taihe Yingke at Jiangning District of Nanjing
performed well and in line with the expectation. The topping-up
work of the commercial building has been completed in 2015 and it
is expected that the interior construction work would be completed
in 2016. Approximately 1,600 square meters of the gross floor
area of the commercial building have been pre-sold with average
selling price of approximately RMB37,100 per square meters. The
construction of the service apartment building had been completed
and the construction completion acceptance was granted in the first
half of 2014. Pre-sale of service apartment building had commenced
in 2012. As at 31 December 2015, 360 service apartment units with
approximately 20,100 square meters of the gross floor area were sold
with average selling price of approximately RMB12,300 per square
meters.

Pursuant to the subscription agreement, this investment will
provide the annual return undertaking of not less than 12% of the
consideration which can generate stable revenue streams and
cash surplus for the Group. On 15 May 2015, the guarantors of the
subscription agreement had fulfilled their obligations regarding
the return undertaking and compensated the shortfall of the profit
guarantee for the year ended 31 December 2014, being HK$36
million, to the Group.

A disposal agreement dated 20 March 2013 in relation to the disposal
of 49% equity interests in 1t R EARREIR E A FHE R 2 7] (Beijing
Zhonggang Green Energy Investment Consulting Co., Ltd.*) (the
“Intermediate Holding Company”) and the cancellation of the option
to acquire the remaining 51% effective interest in the Intermediate
Holding Company was entered into by the Company and the
purchasers for an aggregate consideration of HK$315.0 million (the
“Changdongshun Disposal”). The reasons for the Changdongshun
Disposal were mainly due to the performance of the management
of the Changdongshun Group has failed to meet the expectations
of the Directors, in particular, in respect of provision of financial
information to the Company. A circular of the Company setting out
the details of the Changdongshun Disposal was published on 26
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

June 2013. Up to 7 January 2016, the Group had received from the
Purchasers an aggregate of the whole amount of the consideration
of HK$315,000,000 for the Changdongshun Disposal, the whole
amount of the advance amounting to HK$11,270,000 by the
Group to It RERIEML T ER A A (Beijing Changdongshun Gas
Limited*) (“Beijing Changdongshun”) and the loan amounting to
RMB10,000,000 provided by the Group to Beijing Changdongshun
plus the loan’s interests. By then, all the conditions precedent for
the Changdongshun Disposal has been fulfilled. The Company
and the Purchasers are applying to the Industry and Commerce
Administration Bureau and the Taxation Bureau for transferring the
49% equity interest in the Intermediate Holding Company in order to
complete the Changdongshun Disposal.

PROSPECTS

The management will continue to look for investment opportunities
in relation to the city infrastructure projects in relation to real estate
business and natural gas projects in the PRC so as to expand the
development portfolio of the Group in the future. In this regard,
investment opportunities which offer satisfactory returns to the
Shareholders within the acceptable risk profile of the Group and
expected return will be considered. As a result, the Group will strive
to identify suitable projects with potential for development and
satisfactory returns across various sectors in the PRC market.

Ye De Chao
Chairman

31 March 2016

*

For identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SRR e

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
PRC PROJECTS

Properties development and investment

Forward Investment (PRC] Company Limited

The principal assets of Forward Investment (PRC) Company Limited
(“Forward Investment”) is the 100% equity interests in B RZ=ME
R EZAR AR (Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property Company Limited*)
(“Nanjing Taihe Yingke”), which main asset is a complex development
project (the “Jiangning Project”) located in Jiangning Development
Zone, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, the PRC. The Jiangning Project
is designed as a composite complex comprising two towers of
commercial space and service apartments. A six-storey tower with
a planned gross floor area of 39,241.48 square metres is planned to
house the commercial space, and an 18-storey tower with a planned
gross floor area of 20,882.52 square metres is planned to house
the service apartments. The total planned gross floor area of the
Jiangning Project is approximately 74,642.00 square metres which
includes a basement of approximately 14,518.00 square metres, and
land use rights of approximately 20,050.90 square metres.

The construction progress and the pre-sale of commercial building
developed by Nanjing Taihe Yingke at Jiangning District of Nanjing
performed well and in line with the expectation. The topping-up
work of the commercial building has been completed in 2015 and it
is expected that the interior construction work would be completed
in 2016. Approximately 1,600 square meters of the gross floor
area of the commercial building have been pre-sold with average
selling price of approximately RMB37,100 per square meters. The
construction of the service apartment building had been completed
and the construction completion acceptance was granted in the first
half of 2014. Pre-sale of service apartment building had commenced
in 2012. As at 31 December 2015, 360 service apartment units with
approximately 20,100 square meters of the gross floor area were sold
with average selling price of approximately RMB12,300 per square
meters.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEE WD

Pursuant to the subscription agreement, this investment will
provide the annual return undertaking of not less than 12% of the
consideration which can generate stable revenue streams and
cash surplus for the Group. On 15 May 2015, the guarantors of the
subscription agreement had fulfilled their obligations regarding
the return undertaking and compensated the shortfall of the profit
guarantee for the year ended 31 December 2014, being HK$36
million, to the Group.

Infrastructure

FEHRMTER 2L A (Xinan Zhongjing Gas Company Limited*)

Xinan Zhongjing Gas Company Limited (“Xinan Zhongjing”) is
engaged in the operation of natural gas supply network in #1%
EEEE @ (Xinan Industrial Consolidation Park*), Xinan County,
Luoyang City, Henan Province, the PRC. The first phase of pipeline
construction was completed in June 2012 and ventilation test was
successfully completed in October 2012. Xinan Zhongjing is required
to obtain a gas operating license in accordance with the relevant laws
and regulations, before it can formally commence operation.

As of the date of this report, the license application is still under
process but the relevant authorities have not yet given a timetable
for approval of the gas operating license as the application involves
several different governmental departments and the schedule
of these governmental departments are uncertain. As such, the
management of Xinan Zhongjing has tried to approach some other
natural gas companies for strategic cooperation opportunities. In the
Xinan Zhongjing management’s point of view, with the assistance
of the strategic partners, it can facilitate the gas operating license
application process. The management of Xinan Zhongjing is under
negotiation with some potential strategic partners but no binding
agreement is closed as at the date of this report.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEE WD

W REFIE# T AR A d (Beijing Changdongshun Gas Limited*)

A disposal agreement dated 20 March 2013 in relation to the disposal
of 49% equity interests in the Intermediate Holding Company and
the cancellation of the option to acquire the remaining 51% effective
interest in the Intermediate Holding Company was entered into by
the Company and the purchasers for an aggregate consideration of
HK$315.0 million (the “Changdongshun Disposal”). The reasons for
the Changdongshun Disposal were mainly due to the performance
of the management of the Changdongshun Group has failed to meet
the expectations of the Directors, in particular, in respect of provision
of financial information to the Company. A circular of the Company
setting out the details of the Changdongshun Disposal was published
on 26 June 2013. Up to 7 January 2016, the Group had received
from the Purchasers an aggregate of the whole amount of the
consideration of HK$315,000,000 for the Changdongshun Disposal,
the whole amount of the advance amounting to HK$11,270,000 by
the Group to It RERIBRRERAF] (Beijing Changdongshun Gas
Limited*) (“Beijing Changdongshun”) and the loan amounting to
RMB10,000,000 provided by the Group to Beijing Changdongshun
plus the loan’s interests. By then, all the conditions precedent for
the Changdongshun Disposal has been fulfilled. The Company
and the Purchasers are applying to the Industry and Commerce
Administration Bureau and the Taxation Bureau for transferring the
49% equity interest in the Intermediate Holding Company in order to
complete the Changdongshun Disposal.

OUTLOOK

The management will continue to look for investment opportunities
in relation to the city infrastructure projects in relation to real estate
business and natural gas projects in the PRC so as to expand the
development portfolio of the Group in the future. In this regard,
investment opportunities which offer satisfactory returns to the
Shareholders within the acceptable risk profile of the Group and
expected return will be considered. As a result, the Group will strive
to identify suitable projects with potential for development and
satisfactory returns across various sectors in the PRC market.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BB DT

HUMAN RESOURCES

At 31 December 2015, the Group had a total of 7 staff in Hong
Kong and the PRC. The Group remunerates employees based on
their performance, experience and prevailing industry practices so
as to retain the competent and talented employees. The Company
has a share option scheme for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to the eligible persons including the employees of
the Company for their contributions to the long term success and
prosperity of the Group.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

RESULTS

The turnover of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015
was approximately HK$22,133,000, as compared with approximately
HK$43,966,000 for the year ended 31 December 2014. The profit
attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2015 was approximately HK$5,249,000 as compared with
the profit attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$16,370,000 for the year ended 31 December 2014. This was
mainly due to an impairment loss recognised in respect of intangible
assets amounting to approximately HK$30,798,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2015.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The capital structure of the Group consisted of debt (which included
borrowings), cash and bank balances, loan receivables, and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital and reserves of the Group.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BB DT

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group monitors its liquidity requirements on a short to medium
term basis and arranges refinancing of the Group’s borrowings when
appropriate. At 31 December 2015, the underlying current ratio,
defined as current assets over current liabilities, was approximately
3.33 (2014: 53.82). At 31 December 2015, the underlying gearing
ratio, defined as the total borrowings over total equity (including non-
controlling interests), was approximately 0% (2014: 0%) while the
current liabilities to the total assets ratio was approximately 20% (2014
1%).

At 31 December 2015, the Group’s equity attributable to owners of
the Company was approximately HK$883,179,000, a decrease of
approximately 3.2% over last year end which was approximately
HK$912,025,000. The net current assets at 31 December 2015
was approximately HK$509,570,000 (2014: HK$510,196,000) while
cash and bank balances at 31 December 2015 was approximately
HK$90,669,000 (2014: HK$20,194,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2015.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

At 31 December 2015, none of the assets of the Group were pledged.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

During the year, most of the business transactions, assets and
liabilities of the Group were denominated in Hong Kong Dollars,
Renminbi and United Stated Dollars. The Group had no material
foreign exchange exposure risks during the year.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to propose any final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2015 (2014:nil).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRE

The board of directors (the “Board”) and the Management of the
Company are committed to the principles of corporate governance
and to maximise shareholders’ value. These principles and objectives
enhance the transparency, accountability and independence of the
Company and its ability to attract investment and protect rights of
shareholders. The Company continues to review the effectiveness
of corporate structure so as to improve its corporate governance
practices.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted its own code on corporate governance
practices which incorporates all the code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set out in Appendix 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). The Directors confirm that,
throughout the financial year, the Company complied with the code
provisions of the CG Code except for the following deviations:

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive officer
should be clearly established and set out in writing. Mr. Ye De
Chao, the former Chief Executive Officer of the Company, had been
appointed as the Chairman of the Company since 28 February 2013.
On 9 March 2015, Mr. Ye De Chao had resigned from his position as
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company and continued to serve as
the Chairman of the Company and since then, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer of the Company had been separate.

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive
directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-
election. The term of office for non-executive Directors including
independent non-executive Directors of the Company is not specific.
It is provided in the Company’s articles of association that all the
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years at the annual general meetings of the Company and are
eligible for re-appointment. The Directors are of the view that such
provision in the Company'’s articles of association has been able to
safeguard corporate governance.
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Code Provision F of the CG Code stipulates that the Board should
appoint a company secretary to support the Board by ensuring
good information flow within the Board and that board policy and
procedures are followed. Due to the resignation of Mr. Chan Kim
Sun, the ex-company secretary of the Company, on 30 September
2014, the Company has not met the requirement under Rule 3.28 and
Code Provision F of the Listing Rules since then. Nevertheless, the
Company appointed a new company secretary, Mr. Tso Ping Cheong
Brian on 9 March 2015 to ensure Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules are
now being complied with.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct governing directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules throughout the financial year. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Directors confirmed that they
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
and the Company’s code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Each Director has a duty to act in good faith and in the best interests
of the Company and is accountable for the manner in which the
affairs of the Company are managed, controlled and operated. The
Directors are collectively responsible for the success of the Company.
The Board, as at 31 December 2015, comprised:

(a) three executive Directors, namely Mr. Ye De Chao (Chairman),
Mr. Xu Xiao Jun (Chief Executive Officer) and Mr. Ji Xu Dong;
and

(b) three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. He Jin
Geng, Mr. Yu Hong Gao and Ms. Chen Yang and one of whom
has appropriate professional qualifications, accounting and
related financial expertise required under Rule 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules.
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On 9 March 2015, Mr. Zhu Hai Hua has resigned as an executive
Director and Vice Chairman of the Company. On the same date, Mr.
Ye De Chao has resigned from his position as the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company but will continue to serve as the Chairman
and an executive Director of the Company. Mr. Xu Xiao Jun has taken
up the role as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company effective
from the same date.

The Company considers that the Board has a range of the necessary
skills and experiences for discharging their duties. All Directors have
been kept informed of major changes on a timely basis that may
affect the Company’s business.

INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ADVICE

The Directors may, in appropriate circumstances, take independent
professional advice from external consultants including counsels, at
the Company’s expense. During the year under review, counsels were
engaged to provide the Board with advice on legal matters.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Board meets regularly to formulate the objectives of the
Company, make decisions on strategic plans and budgets, monitor
the performance of the Senior Management, determine and review
the strategy of the Company, oversee the Company’s compliance
with statutory and regulatory requirement and to ensure that there is a
sound system of internal control and risk management with a goal of
protecting the interests of all shareholders.

Sufficient notices accompanying with agendas for regular and non-
regular board meetings were given to all of the Directors so that full
attendance could be attained and timely information was provided so
that informed decisions could be made. The Board conducts meeting
on a regular and ad hoc basis, as required by business needs.

The Board held totally 7 board meetings during the financial year and
the attendance of individual director is recorded as follows:
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Attendance Record of Board Meetings (1 January 2015 —

31 December 2015)

Exged e (-5 -A—
RE=E-HF+=-A=+—H)

Attendance
Attendance Rate
H R B HE =
Number of board meetings EEEERAH 7
Directors EE
Executive Directors HITEE
YE De Chao (Chairman) EER (EE)
(redesignated on 9 March 2015) (R-ZF—AF=HILHET)
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (L /EFHTTEAE#) 7/7 100%
ZHU Hai Hua (resigned on 9 March 2015) AK/8% (R=—Z—RAF = AN HEHT)
(Vice Chairman) e 0/0 N/A i
XU Xiao Jun TR/IME
(Chief Executive Officer) (7TB#EZ)
(redesignated on 9 March 2015) (R=—ZFE—FAF=FHAET) 77 100%
JI Xu Dong ESIEES 717 100%
Independent Non-executive Directors ~— B IF#HiTEE
HE Jin Geng G 517 71%
YU Hong Gao B4l 5/7 71%
CHEN Yang BRF 5/7 71%

The Company has arranged for appropriate liability insurance to
indemnify its Directors for their liabilities arising out of performance of
their duties. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed at least three independent non-executive
directors and one of whom must have appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise. As at 31 December 2015, the independent non-executive
Directors of the Company (the “INEDs”) represented at least one-third
of the Board in compliance with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules.
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The Board is aware of other commitments of the INEDs and is
satisfied that these do not conflict with their duties as the Directors
of the Company. The Company has received from each of the INEDs
an annual confirmation of his independence as required under Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on these confirmations, the Company
considers that each of the INEDs is independent.

The terms and conditions of appointing the INEDs are available for
inspection at the Company’s registered office.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director is provided with an induction
package covering the Group’s business and the statutory regulatory
obligations of a director of a listed company so as to ensure that he/
she has appropriate understanding of the business and operation
of the Group and that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and the relevant regulatory
requirements.

Code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code requires that all Directors
of the Company should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This
is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. During the year under review, all Directors of the Company
participated in continuous professional development programmes
and provided a record of training they received to the Company.
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The individual training record of each Director for the year ended 31
December 2015 is set out below.

BE-T-AF+-AS+—ALFE &
EEHEBEIREIIBIT -

Types of continuous professional
development programmes

BFESERRFRERER

Executive Directors HiTEE
YE De Chao E iz A/B
ZHU Hai Hua KRB

(resigned on 9 March 2015) (R=ZZE—RF=ANBET) B
XU Xiao Jun R/ME B
JI Xu Dong SN B
Independent Non-executive Directors B IFH7TEE
HE Jin Geng A& Bk B
YU Hong Gao Bas B
CHEN Yang BRF B

A attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums

B: reading journals, newsletter, seminar materials and updates relating to
the latest development of the Listing Rules, other applicable regulatory
requirements and directors’ duties and responsibilities.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive officer
should be clearly established and set out in writing.

Mr. Ye De Chao, the former Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
had been appointed as the Chairman of the Company since 28
February 2013. On 9 March 2015, Mr. Ye De Chao had resigned
from his position as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company and
continued to serve as the Chairman of the Company and since then,
the roles of chairman and chief executive officer of the Company had
been separate.

A HEEERRERE RIS

B: BIEBRLTRA  HRMEREERER
EERBRACZEFTERORT - B
A AR EERE R AR

FRERITHAE

EERTRISTRME A 21 R E £ FEMIT
BagcAeREED - A TEHRF—AR
- TERTRAHZHBEND TREBE
FUE - WAZEEHIEH °

RARHATHARFERBEER T —=F
AN NHBEZREAARRRER - K=
T-RAF=ANA  EEBALEERTEAR
AITTERAAE, — BB EEEARREEFE - It
BARREFERITRER 2 ARERES -

PEREEZREARLT
“E-AFFR

17



18

Corporate Governance Report

/_IE‘ lk"-\\Ai&m

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board, headed by the Chairman, reserves for its decision all
major matters of the Company, including: approval and monitoring
of all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control
and risk management systems, material transactions (in particular
those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters. The Board regularly reviews and ensures that
corporate governance principles are in place and at good standard.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has
to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions
entered into by the management.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established internal committees which are of no
less compliance requirements than those set out in the CG Code
of the Listing Rules, namely, Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee, Audit Committee and Corporate Governance Committee.
To further reinforce independence, these four committees are
structured to include a majority of independent non-executive
Directors.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2015, the Remuneration Committee was chaired
by Mr. Yu Hong Gao, an independent non-executive Director with
other committee members comprising two other independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. He Jin Geng and Ms. Chen
Yang and one executive Director, namely Mr. Ye De Chao. The
Remuneration Committee comprises a majority of independent non-
executive Directors that brings an independent and objective view
to the remuneration packages of the executive Directors and Senior
Management of the Company to provide a significant degree of
protection to the shareholders. No director involved in deciding his/
her own remuneration.
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During the financial year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the
remuneration packages of the Directors and the Senior Management,
including discretionary bonus, which were based on individual
performance, skill and knowledge, involvement in the Group’s affairs
and performance and profitability of the Group.

The Remuneration Committee determines the specific remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and Senior Management,
including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments; and makes recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors. The responsibilities of the
Remuneration Committee are described in the terms of reference
adopted. Details of the remunerations of the Directors are shown on
pages 91 to 92 of this annual report. The Remuneration Committee
had met once during the financial year and the attendance of
individual member is recorded as below.

Attendance Record of Remuneration Committee Meeting
(1 January 2015 — 31 December 2015)

RAMBFEREA  HHESSDBREBMEAR
B RERAE HAKEEHE2HE
B AEBZRARBNES  BEREER
SREERE 2 FHMTE - BIERBEA -

FHEZEeBEEENNTESERSREERE
MR EFTMEE (BEFeENE - BRE
BAREBESRE) ARBMIERTESZNH
MrEESRLES FHEZES2EEH
MR PIERAN 2 BIERE R - EFHMNFBH
MRAFRENERE - HIMZESNAY
BEERNRITT —REGH - BRIKEZHFE
FEEEMN T X -

FHESEERcHFECR (ZF-—HF—
B—BEZE-HF+=A=+—H)

Attendance
Attendance Rate
HERE HE=E
Number of remuneration FHZEESSRRE
committee meeting 1
Members #E
Independent Non-executive Directors B FE7TE R
YU Hong Gao (Chairman) Bals (F/E) 1/1 100%
HE Jin Geng Al Bk 1/1 100%
CHEN Yang 5 9z3 1/1 100%
Executive Director HITEE
YE De Chao Rz 1/1 100%
FEERREGRAT

—E-AEFER
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2015, the members of the Nomination Committee
included three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. He
Jin Geng, Mr. Yu Hong Gao and Ms. Chen Yang with Mr. Ye De Chao,
an executive Director, as the Committee Chairman.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for making recommendations
to the Board for its approval on the appointment of the Directors,
evaluation of board composition and the management of board
succession with reference to certain guidelines as endorsed by the
Nomination Committee. These guidelines take account of appropriate
industry experience, professional ethics and knowledge, personal skills
and time commitments of members.

The Nomination Committee carries out the process of selecting
and recommending candidates for directorship including the
consideration of referrals and engagement of external recruitment
professionals when necessary. The Chairman of the Nomination
Committee, in consultation with the person responsible for human
resources and the secretary of the Nomination Committee, should
be primarily responsible for drawing up and approving the agenda
for each Nomination Committee meeting. Potential candidates are
then considered at the Nomination Committee meetings based on
their experience, professional qualifications and their expected
remuneration packages. The Nomination Committee held one meeting
during the financial year and the attendance of individual member is
recorded as below.
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Attendance Record of Nomination Committee Meetings (1 January

2015 - 31 December 2015)

REZESEERIHETHR (Z2—HF—

A—HZ=Z-H"F+=-A=+—H)

Attendance
Attendance Rate
HERE HER
Number of nomination REZESSERIH
committee meetings 1
Members B
Independent Non-executive Directors BV IFHTTEF
HE Jin Geng Al Bk 1/1 100%
YU Hong Gao B4l 11 100%
CHEN Yang BRF 1/1 100%
Executive Director HITEE
YE De Chao (Chairman) EER (EE) 1/1 100%
AUDIT COMMITTEE BEREES

The Audit Committee reviews the Company’s financial reports,
internal controls and corporate governance issues, appointment of
external auditors and review their independency and makes relevant
recommendations to the Board. The written terms of reference which
describes the authority and duties of the Audit Committee has been
prepared and adopted with reference to “A Guide for The Formation
of An Audit Committee” and “A Guide for Effective Audit Committee”
published by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
and amended in accordance with the CG Code.

As at 31 December 2015, all the committee members were
independent non-executive Directors and one of whom possesses
appropriate professional qualifications, accounting or related financial
management expertise. The Chairman of the Audit Committee, Mr.
He Jin Geng, is a qualified accountant and has the relevant financial
experience. Other members were Mr. Yu Hong Gao and Ms. Chen
Yang. None of the Audit Committee members were members of the
former or existing auditors of the Company.
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The Audit Committee held 2 meetings during the financial year and
the attendance of individual member is recorded as below. During the
meetings, the Audit Committee reviewed the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group, the interim and annual reports
of the Group and discussed with the external auditors on auditing,
internal control and financial reporting matters.

Attendance Record of Audit Committee Meetings (1 January 2015

%ff?é,\ SR AT BREERBRITTRAE
ERIKE 2 HEESEA T - &L
%Vi,\ = REASB RN S5TRA
RERARAEE 2 REARE R FR - W
HNEEAZ BN P R AR - NEPESIE RIS IR

EH .

EREEEERHETER (Z2—HF—

- 31 December 2015) B—HE=-Z-HF+=HA=+—H)
Attendance
Attendance Rate
HERE HE=R
Number of audit committee meetings BZZESEHAE 2
Members HKE
Independent Non-executive Directors BV IFHTEF
HE Jin Geng (Chairman) ik (/&) 2/2 100%
YU Hong Gao B4l = 2/2 100%
CHEN Yang BROF 2/2 100%

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2015, the Corporate Governance Committee
consisted of four members, namely Mr. He Jin Geng, Mr. Yu Hong
Gao and Ms. Chen Yang, all being independent non-executive
Directors and Mr. Xu Xiao Jun, being an executive Director. Mr. Xu
Xiao Jun was the Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee.

The Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for, including
but not limited to, developing and reviewing the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance and making
recommendations to the Board, reviewing and monitoring the
training and continuous professional development of the Directors
and Senior Management of the Company, reviewing and monitoring
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, developing, reviewing and monitoring the
code of conduct applicable to the employees and the Directors of
the Company, and reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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The Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee should be
primarily responsible for drawing up and approving the agenda for
each Corporate Governance Committee meeting and ensure that
all members of the Corporate Governance Committee should have
sufficient information in a timely manner to enable effective discussion
at the Corporate Governance Committee meeting. The Chairman
should also brief all members on issues arising at each Corporate
Governance Committee meeting. The Corporate Governance
Committee held one meeting during the financial year and the
attendance of individual member is recorded as below. During the
meeting, the Corporate Governance Committee reviewed the training
and continuous professional development of the Directors and Senior
Management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements and the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report of this annual report.
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Attendance Record of Corporate Governance Committee Meetings ¥ EXRZESERZHELCH (=T —&
(1 January 2015 — 31 December 2015) F—HA—HE=Z-HE+=A=+—H)
Attendance
Attendance Rate
H R B HEER
Number of corporate governance TEERZEEERNRH
committee meetings 1
Members KE
Independent Non-executive Directors B FE7TE R
HE Jin Geng Al Bk 1/1 100%
YU Hong Gao Bias 1/1 100%
CHEN Yang 5 9E3 1/1 100%
Executive Director HiTEE
XU Xiao Jun (Chairman) WG (F)E) 1/1 100%
FEERREGRAT
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the audit and non-audit
fees payable/paid to the external auditors of the Group were made up
of an audit fee of HK$1,150,000.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors aim to present the consolidated financial statements
of the Group in accordance with the statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards. The Directors ensure the
publication of consolidated financial statements of the Group in
a timely manner that the final and interim results of the Group are
announced within the three months and two months limit respectively
after the end of the relevant periods prescribed under the Listing
Rules.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2015 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee and
audited by the external auditors, Elite Partners CPA Limited.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group and presenting a
balanced, clear and comprehensive assessment of the Group’s
performance and prospects. They are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern.
The Statement of the Auditors about their reporting responsibilities on
the consolidated financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditors’ Report.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s system of internal
control and for reviewing its effectiveness in order to safeguard the
Group’s assets and shareholders’ interests. The Board will conduct
regular review regarding internal control systems of the Group.
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During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Audit Committee
reviewed and discussed with the senior management and external
consultants on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control systems including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management. The Audit Committee
further made recommendations to the Board to ensure reliability
of financial reporting and compliance with applicable statutory
accounting and reporting requirements, legal and regulatory
requirements, internal rules and procedures approved by the Board,
to identify and manage potential risks of the Group. Besides, the
Audit Committee and the Board also will perform regular review on the
Group’s performance and internal control system in order to ensure
effective measures are in place to protect material assets and identify
business risks of the Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY

As at 31 December 2015, the company secretary of the Company, Mr.
Tso Ping Cheong Brian, fulfills the requirement under Rules 3.28 and
3.29 of the Listing Rules. During the year ended 31 December 2015,
Mr. Tso has duly complied with the relevant professional training
requirement and he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training to update his skills and knowledge.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE
AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

In accordance with Article 57 of the articles of association of the
Company, an extraordinary general meeting shall be convened on
the written requisition of any 2 or more members holding at the date
of the deposit of the requisition in aggregate not less than 25 per
cent of such of the paid up capital of the Company as at the date
of the deposit carries the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company. Such requisition must state the objects of the meeting and
must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the office. If
the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of
such requisition proceed duly to convene an extraordinary general
meeting, the requisitionists themselves may convene the extraordinary
general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as
that in which meetings may be convened by the Directors, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a result of the
failure of the Directors to convene such a meeting shall be reimbursed
to them by the Company.
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PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD ANY
SHAREHOLDERS' ENQUIRIES OR PROPOSALS TO
THE BOARD

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries or proposals to the
Board/Company Secretary by email: hkoffice@china-infrastructure.
com, by fax: (852) 2698 8188, or by mail to Suite 1205, 12th Floor,
Tower 6, The Gateway, 9 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong
Kong.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general
meetings of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company continues to pursue a proactive policy of promoting
corporate transparency and communications with the shareholders,
potential investors and investment community through its mandatory
interim and final reports. The Senior Management responsible
for investor relations holds meetings with press reporters and
potential strategic investors to keep them abreast of the Company’s
development.

During the year under review, there were no changes in the articles of
association of the Company (“Articles of Association”). An up to date
version of the Articles of Association is available on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website. The shareholders may
refer to the Articles of Association for further details of their rights.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communications with
all shareholders so that they can exercise their rights as shareholders
in an informed basis. Besides regular distribution of financial
reports, the Company has a corporate website to foster effective
communications with the shareholders. It is maintained to disseminate
Company’s announcements and presentations, shareholders’
information and other relevant financial and non-financial information
on a timely basis.
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Another dialogue with shareholders is the Company’s general
meetings which provide a useful forum for shareholders to exchange
their views with the Board. The Company shall provide shareholders
with relevant information on the resolution(s) proposed at a general
meeting in a timely manner in accordance with the Listing Rules.
The information provided shall be reasonably necessary to enable
shareholders to make an informed decision on the proposed
resolution(s). Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general
meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at the meetings for
and on their behalf if they are unable to attend the meetings.

The Company held totally one general meeting during the financial
year and the attendance of individual director is recorded as follows:

Attendance Record of General Meetings (1 January 2015 — 31
December 2015)
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Annual
General
Meeting held on
26 June 2015
R-B—HE
ANAZ+XKB
BITHRRE
BEXE
Executive Directors HiTEE
YE De Chao (Chairman) ¥ER (EE)
(redesignated on 9 March 2015) (R=ZFE—AF=HNLHAEF)
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (L /E#iTEAE%E) v/
ZHU Hai Hua KRG
(resigned on 9 March 2015) (R-ZF—AF=HNHAFT)
(Vice Chairman) (BIEE) —
XU Xiao Jun (Chief Executive Officer) RME (7T AER)
(redesignated on 9 March 2015) (R=_ZFE—AF=F L HET) v/
JI Xu Dong £ 4
Independent Non-executive Directors ~ B iTEE
HE Jin Geng fa] & Bk 4
YU Hong Gao Bas v
CHEN Yang BRI 4
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. YE De Chao, Chairman, aged 55, joined the Group as an
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company on
17 January 2012. Mr. Ye was appointed as the Vice Chairman of the
Company since 1 August 2012 and was then redesignated as the
Acting Chairman of the Company on 18 January 2013. Mr. Ye has
been appointed as the Chairman of the Company on 28 February
2013. Mr. Ye has resigned as the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company but will continue to serve as the Chairman of the Company
effective from 9 March 2015. Mr. Ye is also the chairman of R
ZEMER B EER AT (Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property Company
Limited*) which is an associated company of the Company, and the
chairman of FEREFREEMZEFR A (Nanjing Wanlilai Real
Estate Development Company Limited*). Mr. Ye has over 20 years of
experiences in business operation and management. Mr. Ye was an
electric engineer of F#E AR BB ED HGEEBEREEKS B
T TR (Electric Technology Department, Nanjing Railway Sub-
administration, Shanghai Railway Bureau, The Ministry of Railways
of The People’s Republic of China*). He obtained an undergraduate
diploma from Southeast University in July 1992 and an EMBA from
Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business, which is located in
Beijing, the People’s Republic of China, in September 2011. Mr. Ye is
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. JI Xu Dong, aged 51, has been appointed as an executive
Director of the Company on 2 August 2012. Mr. Ji has studied the
course in International Trade at Nanjing University. Mr. Ji has also
attended the International Financial Investment Programme of
Shanghai Jiao Tong University. Mr. Ji is the director and general
manager of FERMGKEIRMEEBR AT (Nanjing Vegetable and
Non-staple Food Group Company Limited*). He previously served
as vice general manager of IR MR RmEE B AR (Nanjing
Vegetable and Non-staple Food Group*). Mr. Ji has obtained the
independent director authentication from the Shanghai National
Accounting Institute. Mr. Ji is a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company.
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Directors and Senior Management

ESENSREER

Mr. XU Xiao Jun, Chief Executive Officer, aged 37, has been
appointed as an executive Director of the Company on 2 August
2012. Mr. Xu has taken up the role as the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company effective from 9 March 2015. Mr. Xu is the executive
deputy general manager and legal representative of @ RZ=MAE
EXEAR AT (Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property Company Limited*).
Mr. Xu served as the deputy general manager and the director of
the office of EREFREHEFMZE BB AR (Nanjing Wanlilai Real
Estate Development Company Limited*) during the periods from
2002 to 2009 and from 2000 to 2002 respectively. Save as being a
colleague of Mr. Ye De Chao, an executive Director and Chairman
of the Company at FERFMERIEZEBRAF (Nanjing Taihe Yingke
Property Company Limited*) and formerly at R & %5k = i Z= 5
AR AT (Nanjing Wanlilai Real Estate Development Company
Limited*), Mr. Xu is not connected with any other directors, senior
management or substantial or controlling shareholders of the
Company. Mr. Xu is a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, no executive Directors of the Company
have held any other directorships in listed public companies in
the last three years and none of them are connected with any
other directors, senior management or substantial or controlling
shareholders of the Company.

There is currently no director service contract between the Company
and any executive Director. There is no specific term in respect of
their respective appointment, but subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years at the annual general meetings of
the Company. The executive Directors are not entitled to director’s
fee but will be entitled to discretionary bonus to be decided by the
Board based on their contributions, the Company’s annual business
performance and the recommendation given by the Remuneration
Committee of the Board. Details of directors’ remuneration in 2015 are
set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Directors and Senior Management

ESENSREER

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. HE Jin Geng, aged 46, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 1 August 2012. Mr. He
holds a Doctorate Degree in Politics and Economics from Nanjing
University. Mr. He currently serves as the general manager of F 52/
BEEEA BB AR AT (Nanjing South Hospital Medical Investment
Management Company Limited*). He previously served as a director
and president of F R B Z[%{HH PR 2 A (Nanjing Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd*) and as secretary of #1/T4& =FI%SFHEEZ (Youth League
of Liuao District of Sanmen County of Zhejiang Province*), and also
served different posts in FRIFESEHERERGBR LA (Nanjing Xin
Gang High-Tech Co., Ltd*), including deputy director of the office,
secretary of the board of directors and deputy general manager.
Mr. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants.

Mr. YU Hong Gao, aged 53, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 1 August 2012. Mr. Yu
graduated from Nanjing University of Science and Technology
and holds a Doctorate Degree. Mr. Yu previously served as
deputy general manager of the Department of Entrusted Assets
Management, general manager of Asset Management Department
and general manager of Securities Investment Department of ZEZz
BERAY AR AR (Huatai Securities Co., Ltd.*), deputy manager of
the Investment Department of JT & & B U EE = 1 H 1T B R I E A 7]
(Jiangsu High-Tech Capital Venture Co., Ltd. of the Department of
Finance of Jiangsu Province*), deputy head of F{Z$R{TR R D 1TH
Az 17 (Chengxi Sub-branch of China Citic Bank Nanjing Branch*),
deputy general manager of Securities Investment Head Office and
general manager of Assets Management Head Office of {5Z=:5 5
BAEMR AT (Xin Tai Securities Co., Ltd.*).
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Directors and Senior Management

ESENSREER

Ms. CHEN Yang, aged 42, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 5 September 2014. Ms.
Chen graduated from Southeast University and holds a master
degree. Ms. Chen currently serves as deputy general manager of
Nanjing Yulan Road Branch of Dongguan Securities Co., Ltd.* (5
AEFBREEAFE R ERKI 52 %E0). She previously served as
sales director of Nanjing Hongwu South Road Branch of Dongxing
Securities Co., Ltd.* (REiIFHRMD B R A 7R AR BRI E %),
marketing manager of Nanjing Hanzhong Road Branch of Xiangcai
Securities Co., Ltd.* (HEAEAHMD B R A B A EF KI5 L EI0)
and customer relationship manager of Nanjing Pacific South Road
Branch of Guotai Junan Securities Co., Ltd.* (BZF=E LTiFARD AR
RAEERK KIS EER).

Save as disclosed above, no independent non-executive Director
of the Company has held any other directorships in listed public
companies in the last three years or is otherwise connected with
any other directors, senior management or substantial or controlling
shareholders of the Company.

There is currently no director service contract between the Company
and each of the independent non-executive Directors of the Company.
There is no specific term in respect of their respective appointment,
but subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years
at the annual general meetings of the Company. Mr. He, Mr. Yu and
Ms. Chen received director’s fee of HK$120,000, HK$120,000 and
HK$120,000, respectively, in 2015.

*

The English translation of the Chinese name(s), where indicated, is
included for information purpose only, and should not be regarded as
the official English name(s) of such Chinese name(s).
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DIRECTORS" REPORT
EEEWE

The Directors submit herewith their annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is primarily an investment holding company and its
investment portfolio includes (i) property investments; and (ii) natural
gas businesses.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate turnover attributable to the Group’s largest
customer and five largest customers taken together accounted for
approximately 100% and 100% respectively of the Group’s total
turnover for the year.

The aggregate direct costs attributable to the Group’s largest supplier
and five largest suppliers taken together accounted for approximately
100% and 100% respectively of the Group’s total direct costs for the
year.

Save otherwise disclosed, at no time during the year have the
Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the Company
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
Company'’s share capital) had any interest in these major customers
and suppliers.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the past five financial years is set out on page 138 of this annual
report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on pages 46 to 47 of this annual
report.

The state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2015 are set out in
the consolidated statement of financial position on pages 48 to 49 of
this annual report.
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The board of directors does not recommend the payment of a
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2015.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of significant changes in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Movements in share capital of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company'’s listed shares during the year ended
31 December 2015.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company'’s subsidiaries are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EEgTERAREBE_T—AF+_H
=t—REFEZEER -

M - BERRE

BRAKREDE BERRBRFAZER
EHFIREN AW HRERME 12

IR

BERAKENARBRARERA 2 EHEHRN
IREMTEImRMEE24 -

(A
BRAEERALDEREREN 2 B85

HNGARGEHREEEMBHRRME
25¢

BE  HEXRERRKRS

ARRREEAMBARRNEE_T—0F
TA=Z+—HLEFEARERE - HEX
BRIAD R ER LT ©

BrLBEE
EARTZ AR EREURHS S LD

T WEABEBILRBER G BEAR
RIZARZLL BIRIR A IR B E D

B B 2 F

ERAREIMBRARZFBENGEE T HR
FKIFE16 ©

PEHEEZREARLTF
“E-AFFR

33



Directors’ Report

EFEWE

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefits scheme of the Group are set out in
note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance and has complied throughout the year with the Corporate
Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”), except for the deviation of code provisions A.2.1,
A41andF

Further information on the Company’s corporate governance
practices is set out in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual
report.

DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year and at the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Ye De Chao, Chairman
(resigned as Chief Executive Officer on 9 March 2015
but continue to serve as the Chairman)
Mr. Xu Xiao Jun, Chief Executive Officer
(redesignated as Chief Executive Officer on 9 March 2015)
Mr. Ji Xu Dong
Mr. Zhu Hai Hua, Vice Chairman
(resigned as Vice Chairman and
Executive Director on 9 March 2015)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. He Jin Geng

Mr. Yu Hong Gao

Ms. Chen Yang
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In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Ye De Chao, Mr. Xu Xiao Jun and Mr. Ji Xu Dong shall
retire from the Board at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The term of office of each non-executive Director is the period up to
his retirement by rotation in accordance with the Company’s articles
of association.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors had any existing or propose service contract
with the Company or any member of the Group which is not expiring
or terminable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2015, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which (a) were required to be notified
to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), to
be entered in the register referred to therein; or (b) were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register
referred to therein; or (c) were required, pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange were as follows:

BRARB 2 ABERAA 2 X - %58
A R INMEREERFBREERNRALRR]
BRI RRBERE EREFSRE -
WA BRILREERET -

BEIFATETZEHEERRARE 2B
ERAANmESRZABL -

EECZRBEN

MEEZRARNR AL AKEEAKE QAR
BB AR IR —F R E MR AR E
TR —FRARMRE (BREEZRBEIN)
TR L ZIRIEEH

EENTZZERRKR

'~

R-ZE—RAF+-A=+—H EFRAAQ
AEEITBRABRARR REEE LR (F
ERBHRHEKRG ([FHRBEEGD)
EXVER) 2 Btn ~ BERG REHFFHEE(a)
BEFLHRABGRIEXVBETIRESS
BAMSARNBREBBEZZHERAF
(TBsE2ZFT 1) 785 A ZZ GBI Frit & e it eh i s
kAR (BIEREES KBAERMINERIE
NEEWEEIRAEB 2R RRE)
% (0) R IE 7 5 Kk A E {561 % 352 & A5 A
ZGPIFT LMo ERmEAE ()R
B ETARRIKI S 10T E B ITAZE S #
THEFRZHRETFRIENE AN T REHR
Fiz s ORB T ¢

PEREEZREARLT
“E-AFFR

35



36

Directors’ Report

EFEWE

LONG POSITION IN THE ORDINARY SHARES OF
HK$0.05 EACH [“SHARES”) OF THE COMPANY

A2 B K EE 0.05/8 T2 &
BR (KR 248

Number of Shares held

BEZROEE
% to the issued
share capital of
the Company
Personal Corporate HARAT
Name of Director Interests Interests Total BRITRA
EENE EARER NEER B B (%)
Mr. Ye De Chao FiEHkE —  1,189,290,512  1,189,290,512 27.85
(Note)
(PHsE)
Mr. Ji Xu Dong ZERETE 6,000 — 6,000 0.00014

Note: These Shares were held by Legendary Base International Limited, a
company which was wholly-owned by Mr. Ye De Chao. Hence, he was
deemed to have a beneficial interest in all these Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interest or
short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associate corporation (within the meaning of
the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including any interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 11 July 2008
(the “Share Option Scheme”). The purposes of the Share Option
Scheme are to enable the Group and its Invested Entities (any
entity in which any member of the Group holds an equity interest)
to recruit and retain high calibre Eligible Persons and attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group or Invested Entities, to
recognise the contributions of the Eligible Persons to the growth of
the Group or Invested Entities by rewarding them with opportunities
to obtain ownership interest in the Company and to motivate and give
incentives to these Eligible Persons to continue to contribute to the
long term success and prosperity of the Group or Invested Entities.
Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the Board may invite any
Eligible Person including any director and employee of the Company
to take up options to subscribe for shares of the Company. The Share
Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years.
No share options were outstanding nor granted during the year ended
31 December 2015.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2015, so far as is known to the Directors or chief
executive of the Company, the following persons (other than the
Directors or chief executive of the Company) had an interest or short
position in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:
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K7 Ay P
LONG POSITION IN THE ORDINARY SHARES EBR G2 E
% to the issued
share capital of
Number of the Company
Name of shareholder Capacity Shares HARATF
2EITIRA
IR BB BESH RG AR B 7Lk (%)
Central Huijin Investment Ltd. (Note 1) Interests of 1,189,290,512 27.85
PRESHRERREFAT (1) controlled
corporation
R AR
China Construction Bank Corporation Interests of 1,189,290,512 27.85
(Note 2) controlled
FEBIERIRITRMBRAR (HiE2) ~_corporation
LB R
Legendary Base International Limited Beneficial owner 1,189,290,512 27.85
(Note 3) BEmEAA
Legendary Base International Limited (M{#£3)
Expert Ever Limited (Note 4) Beneficial owner 426,990,000 10.00
Expert Ever Limited (FfizE4) BE=B A
Zhang Xiaojun (Note 4) Interests of 426,990,000 10.00

sRBEE (FE4)

Notes:

controlled
corporation
S NE E

(1)  China Construction Bank Corporation was owned as to 57.26% by

Central Huijin Investment Ltd..

(2)  According to the disclosure of interest form filed by China Construction

(4)

Bank Corporation, China Construction Bank Corporation reported
interests because Prosper Talent Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of China Construction Bank Corporation, was reported to
have direct interests in the Shares. So far as the Company was aware
of, Prosper Talent Limited was a person having a security interest in the
Shares under a share pledge.

Legendary Base International Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Ye De
Chao, who is a director of both the Company and Legendary Base
International Limited.

Expert Ever Limited was wholly-owned by Zhang Xiaojun.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, no person (other

than Directors or chief executive of the Company) had an interest or a

short position in the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336
of the SFO.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and Senior Management of the
Group are set out on pages 28 to 31 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Except for the transactions as disclosed in notes 7 and 29 to the
consolidated financial statements, no other contracts of significance
to which the Company, its holding company or subsidiaries was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 27 September 2012, Keen Gate Developments Limited (“Keen
Gate”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group), Mr. Ye De Chao (the
Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, an Executive Director and a
substantial shareholder of the Company), Modern Admission Group
Limited, Mr. Lee Kai Choi and Forward Investment (PRC) Company
Limited (“Forward Investment”) had entered into a subscription
agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”) in relation to the
subscription of 40% equity interests in Forward Investment by Keen
Gate (the “Subscription”) at a consideration of HK$300 million (the
“Consideration”). The Subscription was completed on 10 December
2012. Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement, Mr. Ye De Chao,
Modern Admission Group Limited and Mr. Lee Kai Choi (collectively,
the “Guarantors”) jointly and severally undertake to Keen Gate that
the return to Keen Gate, being the dividend receivable from the
Group’s equity interests in Forward Investment, shall not be less than
12% of the Consideration per annum. In the event the return to Keen
Gate falls below such threshold, the Guarantors shall compensate
Keen Gate on a dollar-for-dollar basis (the “Return Undertaking”) in
cash on or before 15 May of each calendar year.
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The Return Undertaking of approximately HK$36 million for the year
ended 31 December 2014 was paid by the Guarantors on 15 May
2015. In the opinion of the independent non-executive Directors (the
“INEDs”) of the Company, the Guarantors had fulfilled their obligations
under the guarantee for the year ended 31 December 2014.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, Forward Investment suffered
a loss and therefore would not be able to pay any dividends to its
shareholders, including Keen Gate. The Return Undertaking for the
year ended 31 December 2015 would be approximately HK$36
million. The Guarantors shall compensate Keen Gate the amount of
approximately HK$36 million on or before 15 May 2016.

As at the date of this annual report, the Guarantors have not
yet fulfilled their obligations under the guarantee by paying the
compensation of approximately HK$36 million to Keen Gate. Pursuant
to the Subscription Agreement, the Guarantors shall fulfill their
obligations on or before 15 May 2016. The Directors of the Company
will closely monitor the status of the fulfiiment of the Guarantors’
obligations regarding the Return Undertaking and will disclose to the
public as when the Guarantors have fulfilled their obligations or when
the Guarantors fail to fulfill their obligations on or before 15 May 2016
by publication of an announcement.

The INEDs of the Company had been informed that Forward
Investment suffered a loss and would not be able to pay any
dividends to Keen Gate for the year ended 31 December 2015. The
INEDs of the Company will closely monitor the status of the fulfilment
of the Guarantors’ obligations regarding the Return Undertaking
and will provide an opinion (the “INED Opinion”) on whether the
Guarantors had fulfilled their obligations under the guarantee by
compensating Keen Gate the amount of approximately HK$36 million
on or before 15 May 2016 or not. The INED Opinion will be disclosed
in the Company’s next published annual report.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2015

ERAER-Z—RAFRA+RBEXNAEZE
—E-NFE+ A=+ RALFEZ O
##936,000,0008 7T ° ANARBIMIERITE
E([BUFERTER]) RE - ERAEE
THEERBE-_Z—NF+=-A=+—H1t
FERERBETZEE -

BE_Z—AF+_A=+—HIFE  %*
MEELFER - Bt ReEmMERRE (2
B RETARE - BEZZT—1F
T A=t BLFEZEHREZBNA
36,000,000 87T  ERABRZE—"FH
A+A Bz AIREERE4 36,000,000%8
ik

HEAFHRTZEAE - BRARRABEER
1€ #936,000,000 % TT A B 1T SR ERIB
TEME - BREREHZE  BRAER-Z
—NFRA+THEBRZAIBRITRECZEME -
ARREEESRIERERABITEBE
WAEAAEENBER - WAERATHREITE
E2EAZHIERATER-_Z—RFH
ATHhBSZABITRSEZEER - FIBQ
EARRAREE -

RNARZBIYIERTESC NBRMLES
E-E-RAFE+-_A=+—RIIFEHSEE
B BReEmEERMERARE - AREZ
BN IAITEE B SR ERERABITA
BEmAEETNER  WRERARS
R-ZE—XRERA+HEBERZABITIHS
2 YEIR B 1 [7) 22 & 1/ {8 £9 36,000,000 7% 7T
ZEBEFREER (ZBIFNTESE
B BRI TESTERF TR EADF
T—REBENFEREPHE -



Directors’ Report

EFEWE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”) presently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors. The Audit
Committee has reviewed with the management and the Company’s
external auditors the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and discussed auditing, internal control and financial
reporting process including the review of the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2015.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable
date prior to issue of this report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed amount of public float during the year and up to the date
of this report as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Elite
Partners CPA Limited whose term of office will expire upon the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. A resolution
for the re-appointment of Elite Partners CPA Limited as the auditors
of the Company for the subsequent year is to be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Ye De Chao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2016
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS” REPORT

B AZHEM R

)

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE
SHAREHOLDERS OF

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

B E HETERATA RA 3]
ELITE PARTNERS CPA LIMITED

Certified Public Accountants

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Infrastructure Investment Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 46 to 137,
which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as
at 31 December 2015, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2015

HHEEERREARAT
SRR 2 B BB 3R

(RESBEEZMK L BRLA])

AZEMEERFE46 2137 AFHPEHE
EIREBRARE ([ERR]) REWBERAR]
(B [EEE]) 2HEFBRE - BER
“E-AFT - A=+—RZEAMBIRR
R BEZBLFEZHGABSEMNEMERE
WaHR SGEEREHRMGEARERNE
FAREIBEABRMEREMEEEE
£t o

EENGRSUBBREAERE
ZBE

l

‘mg

= NREEARERBEBEGIMAE
[BEEFEAE]) M EEUHERE
EAURFBLAUGPIZRERTE - RERE
EMAFHMEINGRAFBHRE - WHESFE
ERE IR MEHRR I FERRREFHL
R MG R B AR FTE 2 B R

EHAE -

=

—~

N



Independent Auditors’ Report

BB RS

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with agreed term of
engagement and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Except for the inability to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence as explained below, we conducted our
audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued
by the HKICPA. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
are free from material misstatement whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal
control relevant to the entity’s preparation of consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

PRIOR YEAR'S AUDIT SCOPE LIMITATION
AFFECTING OPENING BALANCE AND
COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The auditor’s report on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2014 contained a qualified
opinion on the limitation on the audit scope in relation to non-current
assets held for sale and details of which had been set out in the
auditor’s report dated 30 March 2015.
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As the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2014 formed the basis for the corresponding
figures presented in the current year’'s consolidated financial
statements, any adjustments found to be necessary in respect of the
carrying amount of the non-current assets held for sale would have a
significant effect on the opening balances and consequential effect
on the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2015 and the results and the related disclosures for the year ended
31 December 2015.

SCOPE LIMITATION - NON-CURRENT ASSETS
HELD FOR SALE

The Group had interests in an associate in respect of 49% equity
interests in Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy Investment Consulting
Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries (the “Associate”) which has been
classified as non-current assets held for sales since the Company
announced to disposal of the Associate on 20 March 2013 (“Disposal”).
As at the date of this report, the Disposal has not been completed.

Due to the fact that the directors of the Company were unable to
obtain sufficient financial information of the Associate since 1 July
2012, the directors of the Company have not stated the assets of
the Associate at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less
cost to sell. Under these circumstances, the assets of the Associate
classified as held for sales included in the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2013, 2014 and 2015 were
measured at the carrying amount at cost since 1 July 2012.

As a result, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence in respect of the measurement and valuation of the non-
current assets held for sales as at 31 December 2013, 2014 and 2015
and whether they were free from material misstatements.

Any adjustments found to be necessary in respect thereof would have
a significant and consequential effect on the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2015, the results and cash
flows for the year ended 31 December 2015 and related disclosure
thereof in the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2015.
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QUALIFIED OPINION ARISING FROM LIMITATION
OF SCOPE

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matters described in
the basis of qualified opinion paragraph, the consolidated financial
statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group
as at 31 December 2015 and of the Group’s financial performance
and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

REPORTING ON MATTERS UNDER
SECTION 407(2) AND 407(3) OF THE
HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE

In respect alone of the matters described in the basis for qualified
opinion’s paragraph:

— we have not obtained all the information and explanations that
we considered necessary for the purpose of our audit; and

— we were unable to determine whether proper books of account
had been kept.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 31 March 2016

Yip KaiYin
Practising Certificate Number: P05131

10/F, 8 Observatory Road
Tsim Sha Tsui
Kowloon, Hong Kong
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
meEmR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 82 —E—AF 1+ - A=+—HIFFZ

2015 2014
—E-fHF —4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BsE FExT FAT
Revenue Wzs 4 22,133 43,966
Cost of sales SHEMKA (21,998) (43,704)
Gross profit EF 135 262
Other revenue and net income H bz R A F =R 5 37,223 36,158
Share of results of associates [ =N (777) (2,986)
Other operating expenses HihZiERX (30,798) =
General and administrative expenses — RITBE R (11,544) (18,126)
(Loss)/profit from operations g (B18) RF (5,761) 15,308
Finance costs BF TG R AR — —
(Loss)/profit before taxation BEiAT (BB 8RR 6 (5,761) 15,308
Income tax FTiSHt 9 8,394 727
Profit for the year FRRR 2,633 16,035
Attributable to: FEfh -
— Owners of the Company — RRARIEAA 5,249 16,370
— Non-controlling interests — AR AR R A (2,616) (335)
Profit for the year FRER 2,633 16,035
Earnings per share BREF
(HK cents per share) (ZRAEMWN) 11
Basic EEWIN 0.12 cents &Il 0.38 cents /&1l
Diluted e 0.12 cents &1l 0.38 cents /&1l

The notes on pages 54 to 137 form an integral part of these  #54F 137 B2 M ARG EMBERE 2 —

consolidated financial statements. 5 o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

e EWE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 &2 — &

—AFFZA=—HUFE

2015 2014
—B-HF —T-F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
LiEs3 FET FAT
Profit for the year FERER 2,633 16,035
Other comprehensive loss: Hﬂtéﬁﬁﬂé :
ltems that may be reclassified to B EF O AER
profit or loss ZIE B
Net translation differences on B GINETE
translation of foreign operations ZVEH EREEEE (31,153) (2,411)
Share of other comprehensive FEAREEE R R M2 E
loss of associates [E518
— Exchange reserve —ERHE (2,707) (636)
Other comprehensive loss FRAHEMEE
for the year, net of tax BB BiE (33,860) (3,047)
Total comprehensive (loss)/lincome FREZME (FE) WA
for the year 4z (31,227) 12,988
Attributable to: B4k -
— Owners of the Company — RRFEBA (28,846) 13,294
— Non-controlling interests — FEIE R AR R A (2,381) (306)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income FRE2MHE (FE) WA
for the year 4z (31,227) 12,988

The notes on pages 54 to 137 form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

FEE4E 137 AZMERAZEMBHRER 2 —

25 -
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“E-AFFR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

At 31 December 20156 R = FE—H#E+-H=+—H

2015 2014
—E-hF —EF—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B &E FExT FBT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS kREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BB KRB 12 5,328 7,264
Goodwill (SRS 13 — S
Intangible asset mLEE 14 38,617 72,192
Interests in associates REE AR 2R 15 343,864 347,348
387,809 426,804
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories FE 17 56 60
Trade receivable EUE SRR 18 — =
Deposits, prepayment and other e ENIREREM
receivables FEWGRIR 19 322,203 166,799
Cash and bank balances B MIRTTHE 20 90,669 20,194
412,928 187,053
Assets classified as held for sale DEAFBIEHEEE 26 315,739 332,803
728,667 519,856
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and other payables FERE SRR R EA
FET5RIE 21 (219,097) (9,660)
(219,097) (9,660)
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEERE 509,570 510,196
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERRBEE
LIABILITIES 897,379 937,000

48 CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e SRR R

At 31 December 2015 R —FE—FHF+-H=+—H

2015 2014
—E2—FHF —ZT—pO4E
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5T FET FET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBARE
Deferred tax liabilities EEFHIBEE 22 (9,655) (18,049)
NET ASSETS EEFE 887,724 918,951
CAPITAL AND RESERVES PR R
Share capital &N 24 213,496 213,496
Reserves M 669,683 698,529
Total equity attributable to owners of &2 F#EE AEN
the Company e 883,179 912,025
Non-controlling interests FERBRRER 4,545 6,926
TOTAL EQUITY EREEE 887,724 918,951

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on RNZE—RNF-A=+—HEKESSHET

31 March 2016. PR -
Ye De Chao Xu Xiao Jun
*EH (E YN s
Director Director
EFE EFE

The note on pages 54 to 137 form an integral part of these  S54E 137 BZ M AR AE W EMER 2 —
consolidated financial statements. =i
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GARREHE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 &2 —F—AF+=A=+—HILF/E

Attributable to owners of the Company

ALRER AR
Capital
Capital  redemption Non-
reserve reserve controlling
Share Share (note 1) (note2)  Exchange Accumulated interests Total

capital  premium ERGE EFEDRE reserve losses Total R Equity
ke RBRE (1) (H&2) EifE  ZiEE A% BRER  BR4E
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fhn i T i Tin i i Thn i

At 1 January 2014 RZE-ME-A-A 213,496 756,049 72 69 12,297 (83.252) 898,731 7232 905,963
Exchange differences on BERINBLRA

translation of financial HkER

statements of overseas LEREE

subsidiaries — — — — (2440) — (2440) 29 (2411)
Share of other comprehensive EBEAT

income of associates At2EkE — — — — (636) = (636) = (636)
Profit for the year EmaT - - - - - 16370 16,370 (335) 16,03
Total comprehensive loss EMREEELS

forthe year - = £ i (30%) 16370 13,004 6 12988
At 31 December 2014 RZE-IE

T-A=1-H 213,49 756,049 72 69 9221 (66,882) 912,025 6,926 918,951
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GARERBHE
For the year ended 31 December 2015 #{2 —E—AF 1+ -A=+—HILFZ

Attributable to owners of the Company

RRTREAEL
Capital
Capital  redemption Non-
reserve reserve controlling
Share Share (note 1) (note2)  Exchange Accumulated interests Total
capital  premium ERGE EFEDRE reserve losses Total R Equity
Bx  RGEE (1) (HzF2) Eifie  ZiEE a# RRgs  EREE
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
Fhn i T i Tin i i Thn i
At 1 January 2015 R-%-1%-A-H 213,496 756,049 72 69 9,221 (66,882) 912,025 6,926 918,951
Exchange differences on BERINBLRA
translation of financial HkER
statements of overseas LEREE
subsiciries - - - - (313%) - (313%) B L)
Share of other comprehensive EEBEAT
income of associates Atr2EkE - - - - (2,707) - (2,707) - (2,707)
Profit for the year EmaT - - - - - 5,249 5,249 (2616) 2,633
Total comprehensive loss EMREEELS
forthe year - - - - (a0%) 5209 (88 (381  (31.227)
At 31 December 2015 RZE-1%
+-A=1-7 23496 756,049 7 69 (8T (616%) 8839 455 88772
Notes: BsE -
1. The capital reserve of the Group represents the excessive injection of 1. AEEELAFEEMNBARFMERZEB

the registered capital of a subsidiary.

2. Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of shares
repurchased out of distributable profit.

2.

BiE -

ME -

BRIE B A 1 A R 0 s A B Bt 2

FEERRAARAT
—2-EFEH
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

nv-.ﬁ IE%/)ILE%‘%

For the year ended 31 December 2015 82 —E—AF 1+ - A=+—HIFFZ

2015 2014
—E-HF —PueF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FBT FHT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REER
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRBLAT (E51R) & F (5,761) 15,308
Adjustments for: BTPIEHAE -
Amortisation and depreciation of ERBEERENRITE
non-current assets 3,690 3,936
Interest income B A (16) (76)
Loss on written off of property, plant MIZE - R MR TR
and equipment 5= — 1,278
Impairment loss recognised in respect  SL¥IE - BE KRG TR
of property, plant and equipment ZIBIEEE = (298)
Impairment loss recognised in respect  FLEEERER
of intangible asset ZRERE 30,798 S
Share of results of associates e l/N e 777 2,983
Operating profit before changes BEESBEA
in working capital pd <355 29,488 23,131
Increase in deposits, prepayment % BARER
and other receivables o Atb FEUGRIRIE hN (155,404) (123,493)
Decrease in inventories FERD 4 —
Increase in trade and JERTE SRR
other payables EAbpETRIEg N 209,437 129
Cash generated from/(used in) REEE (R 2Re
operations 83,525 (100,233)
Net cash generated from/(used in) REEBELE (EAH) 2BL238E
operating activities 83,525 (100,233)

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2015




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

n‘lj_\ EE@/)ILE%

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —F—AF+=-HA=+—HIFZF

2015 2014
—E-fHF —4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BsE FExT FAT

INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXEW
Interest received BYFIE 16 76
Payment for the purchase of property, BAYE  BENEHE

plant and equipment ANE= = (8)
Net cash generated from REEBEEZ

investing activities HEFE 16 68
Net increase/(decrease) incashand HE&RBREZEY

cash equivalents #in CRd) BEE 83,541 (100,165)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 4MEIE R EF) » f/ 2 (13,066) (2,207)
Cash and cash equivalents at the REVZRER

beginning of year REFEY 20,194 122,566
Cash and cash equivalents atthe end ~ RELRZEHEE R

of year REFEY 90,669 20,194
Analysis of the balances of cashand BE&ERBEEZEEY

cash equivalents RO
Cash and cash equivalents atthe end ~ RELKRZIBEE R

of year REFEY 90,669 20,194

FEERREGRAT

“E-hEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\/-_ﬁ
For the year ended 31 December 2015 &2 — &

1.

BB ERRMEE

—AFFZA=—HUFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Infrastructure Investment Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated and registered in the Cayman Islands on 16 June
1992 as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 2 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands. The shares of the Company
are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered office of
the Company in the Cayman Islands is The R&H Trust Co.
Ltd., Windward 1, Regatta Office Park, West Bay Road, Grand
Cayman, Cayman Islands. The address of the registered office
and the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong is Suite 1205, 12/F., Tower 6, The Gateway 9 Canton Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are described in note 17.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R ER R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —F—AF+=-HA=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEETEE

[A) STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE [A) BB

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. The provisions of the new
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (cap 622) regarding
preparation of accounts and directors’ reports and
audits became effective for the company for the financial
year ended 31 December 2015. Further, the disclosure
requirements set out in the Listing Rules regarding annual
accounts have been amended with reference to the
new CO and to streamline with HKFRSs. Accordingly
the presentation and disclosure of information in the
consolidated financial statements for the financial year
ended 31 December 2015 have been changed to comply
with these new requirements. Comparative information
in respect of the financial year ended 31 December
2014 are presented or disclosed in the consolidated
financial statements based on the new requirements.
Information previously required to be disclosed under the
predecessor CO or Listing Rules but not under the new
CO or amended Listing Rules are not disclosed in these
consolidated financial statements. These consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”). The HKICPA has issued certain amendments and
interpretations which are or have become effective. It has
also issued certain new and revised HKFRSs which are
first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Company. The information on
initial application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Company for the current and
prior accounting periods reflected in these consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in Note 3 to these
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R ER R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —F—AF+=-HA=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFBE »

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2015 comprise the financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements is the historical
cost basis except that certain financial instruments are
measured at fair value and non-current assets held for
sale are stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair
value less costs to disposal as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R ER R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —F—AF+=-HA=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFBE »

(Continued)

(C] SUBSIDIARIES AND NON-CONTROLLING (C] H1/& 2\ a] R IR IR

INTERESTS

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and
other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances and transactions and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but
only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Group, and in respect of which the Group has not agreed
any additional terms with the holders of those interests
which would result in the Group as a whole having a
contractual obligation in respect of those interests that
meets the definition of a financial liability. For each
business combination, the Group can elect to measure
any non-controlling interests either at fair value or at their
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable
assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R ER R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —F—AF+=-HA=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFBE »

(Continued)

(C) B1/& 2 5] R FF IR IR

(C] SUBSIDIARIES AND NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS (Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to owners of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between non-controlling interests and
owners of the Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no
gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised at
fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition of a financial asset or, when appropriate,
the cost on initial recognition of an interest in an associate
or a joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment losses, unless the investment is classified
as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale).

N2

PR ()

IR R AE s 4R B BRI
RANBRRRIHER AEEERSD
FEJNEREAN - RAEBEER
N IRERBE R ESERFANIE
IR REREARREEALZ
A M e B R AR R I 2 M R
BBz R YHEFGEGSRE
2 EWEKRA 2

AEBE NGB RARIEIAE 2 Mt
BRRRENEHIRERZH
AR IR AREGAERN
ZEREIFERR RS 28R
MR EAARI R 2 B8 - BF
AEEELEREE -

EAKERAE —HBAR 2T
Pkt BIROEZMBARZH
BEEm AR - MATELN B EHE
RRBEER o (Efa 72 R KRITRHE
BT RBE % B P B A B 2 HE R 12
NHEER - M8 EAE ST
PR -SMEENATE %X
(AnER) WAV FER — B &
NRNE E B EES

RARRFBARREKA - KB
REZ BB AR R EREET
B BRIEREDHERIIEHE
(HEFADBEAFIEHEZHE
ARl o

58 CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2015



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —F—AF+=-HA=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(D) GOODWILL

(E]

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may be
impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets
of the unit on a pro rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss
for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor
an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control
over those policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —F—AF+=-HA=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFBE »

(Continued)

(E] B2 s ()

(E] INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting, except when the
investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”.
Under the equity method, investments in associates
are initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associates.

When the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds
the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of
the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of an associate
recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over
the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R ER R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —F—AF+=-HA=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(E] INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

The requirements of HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement” are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss
with respect to the Group’s investment in an associate.
When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal
of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

Upon disposal of an associate that results in the Group
losing significant influence over that associate, any
retained investment is measured at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition as a financial asset in accordance with HKAS
39. The difference between the previous carrying amount
of the associate attributable to the retained interest and
its fair value is included in the determination of the gain or
loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group
accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate on
the same basis as would be required if that associate
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in
other comprehensive income by that associate would
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain
or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) when it loses significant influence over that
associate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #{2 —E—AF 1+ -A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(E]

(F]

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

When a group entity transacts with its associate, profits
and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable in the ordinary course of the
Group’s activities. Revenue is shown, net of business tax
and after eliminating sales with the Group companies.
Revenue is recognised in consolidated statement of profit
or loss as follows:

Sales of properties

Sales of properties are recognised upon the completion of
sales contracts with customers; completion of construction
of relevant properties; and registration of sales contracts
with local authority is completed, whichever is the later.
Deposits and instalments received on properties sold
prior to the date of revenue recognition are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position as advanced
proceeds received from customers and grouped under
current liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #{2 —E—AF 1+ -A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(F]

(G]

REVENUE RECOGNITION (continued)
Sale of construction materials

Revenue from the sale of construction materials is
recognised when the risks and rewards of construction
materials’ ownership are transferred to customers, which is
at the time of delivery and the title is passed to customer.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

LEASING

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

(F]

(G]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R ER R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —F—AF+=-HA=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFBE »

(Continued)

[G) LEASING (continued) (G] HE #)

The Group as lessee

Lease payments are apportioned between finance
expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as
to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless they are directly
attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general policy
on borrowing costs. Contingent rentals are recognised as
expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of the time
pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset
are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating
leases are recognised as an expense in the period in
which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter
into operating leases, such incentives are recognised
as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is
recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-
line basis, except where another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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e PR R AR Y A

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —F—AF+=-HA=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(G]

(H)

LEASING (continued)
Leasehold land for own use

When a lease includes both land and building elements,
the Group assesses the classification of each element as
a finance or an operating lease separately based on the
assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of each element have
been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both
elements are operating leases in which case the entire
lease is classified as an operating lease. Specifically,
the minimum lease payments (including any lump sum
upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values
of the leasehold interests in the land element and building
element of the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as ‘prepaid lease
payments’ in the consolidated statement of financial
position and is amortised over the lease term on a straight-
line basis. When the lease payments cannot be allocated
reliably between the land and building elements, the
entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease and
accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
entity’s functional currency are recognised at the rates
of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B R SRR B AL

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —F—AF+=-HA=+—HIFZF

'A.|
%/T\/\

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(H) FOREIGN CURRENCIES (Continued)

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

— exchange differences on foreign currency
borrowings relating to assets under construction
for future productive use, which are included in
the cost of those assets when they are regarded
as an adjustment to interest costs on those foreign
currency borrowings;

— exchange differences on transactions entered into in
order to hedge certain foreign currency risks; and

— exchange differences on monetary items receivable
from or payable to a foreign operation for which
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur
(therefore forming part of the net investment in the
foreign operation), which are recognised initially in
other comprehensive income and reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary
items.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange
rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Income and expense items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of foreign currency translation reserve.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
b

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —F—AF+=-HA=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFBE »

(Continued)

[H] FOREIGN CURRENCIES (continued) (H] 57/‘ (&)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of
joint control over a jointly controlled entity that includes a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant
influence over an associate that includes a foreign
operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the
owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does
not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange
differences is re-attributed to non-controlling interests and
are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial
disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or jointly
controlled entities that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence or joint control), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Exchange differences
arising are recognised in equity under the heading of
foreign currency translation reserve.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #{2 —E—AF 1+ -A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(1]

(J]

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Short-term employee benefits and contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when the Group demonstrably commits itself to terminate
employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary
redundancy by having a detailed formal plan which is
without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

INCOME TAX

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in
the consolidated profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of items of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —F—AF+=-HA=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

[J} INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —F—AF+=-HA=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

[J} INCOME TAX (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities
or deferred tax assets for investment properties that
are measured using the fair value model, the carrying
amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered
entirely through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment property
is depreciable and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises
from the initial accounting for a business combination, the
tax effect is included in the accounting for the business
combination.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
b

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —F—AF+=-HA=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFBE »

(Continued)

(K] PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (K] 9% - BERKRE

Property, plant and equipment held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than properties under
construction as described below), are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes professional
fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Such
properties are classified to the appropriate categories of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready
for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the
same basis as other property assets, commences when
the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets (other than properties under construction) less their
residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over
their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned
assets. However, when there is no reasonable certainty
that ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease
term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease
term and their useful lives.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #{2 —E—AF 1+ -A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(K] PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(L)

(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

STOCK OF PROPERTIES

Properties under development for sale

Properties under development for sale are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable
value is determined by reference to the sale proceeds of
properties sold in the ordinary course of business, less
applicable variable selling expenses and the anticipated
costs to complete, or by management estimates based on
prevailing market conditions.

Development cost of property comprises construction
costs, depreciation of machinery and equipment,
amortisation of land use rights and professional fees
incurred during the development period. On completion,
the properties are transferred to completed properties
held for sale.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —F—AF+=-HA=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFBE »

(Continued)

(L) STOCK OF PROPERTIES (Continued) L) DEFE &)

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale remaining unsold
at the year end are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost comprises development costs attributable to the
unsold properties.

Net realisable value is determined by reference to the
sale proceeds of properties sold in the ordinary course
of business, less applicable variable selling expenses,
or by management estimates based on prevailing market
conditions.

(M) INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are identified and recognised separately from goodwill
where they satisfy the definition of an intangible asset and
their fair values can be measured reliably. The cost of
such intangible assets is their fair value at the acquisition
date. Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets
that are acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R ER R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —F—AF+=-HA=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFBE »

(Continued)

(N) IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE AND IN]) BEUINEERZE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS OTHER THAN
GOODWILL

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets
with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for
impairment when there is an indication that the assets may
be impaired.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —F—AF+=-HA=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(0]

(P

(a)

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on
weighted average basis. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group or the Company has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the present value of
the expenditures expected to settle the obligation. Where
it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events, are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on
the statement of financial position when an entity becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —F—AF+=-HA=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFBE »

(Continued)

[Q) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continuea) Q) ZET A %)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") and
loans and receivables. The classification depends on
the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is
determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis
for debt instruments other than those financial assets
classified as at FVTPL.
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b

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #{2 —E—AF 1+ -A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFBE »

(Continued)

[Q) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continuea) Q) AT A &)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. Loans and receivables (including
cash and bank balances and trade and other receivables
but not the prepayment) are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less any impairment
(see accounting policy on impairment of financial assets
below).

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the
recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the
financial asset is either held for trading or it is designated
as at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

— it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling it in the near future; or

— on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

— it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(Q) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for

trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial

recognition if:

such designation eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would otherwise arise; or

the financial asset forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is
managed and its performance is evaluated on a
fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s
documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 “Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” permits
the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be
designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any
gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in

profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or

loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the

financial assets and is included in the “other revenue and

net income” line item in the consolidated profit or loss and

other comprehensive income.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —F—AF+=-HA=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFBE »

(Continued)

(Q] FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) Q) @ ITE &

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed
for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting
period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired
when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one
or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the financial assets, the estimated future cash flows of the
investment have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

o breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

° the disappearance of an active market for that
financial assets because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on
a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for
a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the
number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the
average credit period of 365 days, as well as observable
changes in national or local economic conditions that
correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount
of the impairment loss recognised is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —F—AF+=-HA=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFBE »

(Continued)

(Q) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount
is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When
a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written
off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are credited against the
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount
of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed
does not exceed what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by
an entity are as other financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of a company after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by
a company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities (including trade and other
payables but not the advanced proceeds received from
customers) are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EEE5TEEK »

(Continued)

(Q) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) Q) /T E @)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to
the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest
basis other than financial liabilities classified as at FVTPL.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial assets only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its
continuing involvement and recognises an associated
liability. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial assets, the
Group continues to recognise the financial assets and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial
assets are transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial assets.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(Q)

(R]

(S)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Derecognition (Continued)

On derecognition of a financial assets, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and the cumulative gain or loss
that had been recognised directly in equity is recognised
in profit or loss.

For financial liabilities, they are removed from the
consolidated statement of financial position when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is discharged,
cancelled or expires. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid or payable is recognised in profit or
loss.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks, and short term,
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts
that are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose
of the consolidated statement of cash flows.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s
business, the operations and cash flows of which can
be clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and
which represents a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations, or is part of a single
co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line
of business or geographical area of operations, or is a
subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —F—AF+=-HA=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(S)

(T)

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon
disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be
classified as held for sale, if earlier. It also occurs when
the operation is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a single
amount is presented on the face of the consolidated profit
or loss and other comprehensive income which comprises:

— the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued
operation; and

— the post-tax profit or loss recognised on the
measurement to fair value less costs to sell, or on
the disposal, of the assets or disposal group(s)
constituting the discontinued operation.

NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified as
held for sale if it is highly probable that its carrying amount
will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than
through continuing use and the asset (or disposal group)
is available for sale in its present condition. A disposal
group is a group of assets to be disposed of together
as a group in a single transaction, and liabilities directly
associated with those assets that will be transferred in the
transaction.

When the group is committed to a sale plan involving
loss of control of a subsidiary, all the assets and liabilities
of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when
the above criteria for classification as held for sale are
met, regardless of whether the group will retain a non-
controlling interest in the subsidiary after the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R ER R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —F—AF+=-HA=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFBE »

(Continued)

[T) NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE [T)] FIEHEZHEREIEE

(Continued)

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the
measurement of the non-current assets (and all individual
assets and liabilities in a disposal group) is brought up-
to-date in accordance with the accounting policies before
the classification. Then, on initial classification as held for
sale and until disposal, the non-current assets (except for
certain assets as explained below), or disposal groups,
are recognised at the lower of their carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell. The principal exceptions to this
measurement policy so far as the financial statements of
the group and the company are concerned are deferred
tax assets, assets arising from employee benefits,
financial assets (other than investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures) and investment properties.
These assets, even if held for sale, would continue to
be measured in accordance with the policies set out
elsewhere.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale,
and on subsequent remeasurement while held for sale, are
recognised in profit or loss. As long as a non-current asset
is classified as held for sale, or is included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale, the non-current
asset is not depreciated or amortised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #{2 —E—AF 1+ -A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(U RELATED PARTIES

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

A person, or a close member of that person’s family,

is related to the Group if that person:

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or the Group’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)

(iif)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same Group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others);

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of
a member of a Group of which the other entity
is a member);

both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —F—AF+=-HA=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(U] RELATED PARTIES (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); or

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
service to the Group or the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence by, that
person in their dealings with the entity.

(V] OPERATING SEGMENTS

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the directors of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #{2 —E—AF 1+ -A=+—HILFZ

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

3.1 INITIAL APPLICATION OF HKFRSs

In the current year, the Group initially applied the following
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards:

(i) New and revised HKFRSs effective in the
current year

The Group has applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the
first time in the current year:

Amendments to HKAS 19 Defined benefit plans: Employee
contributions

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to HKFRSs
2010 — 2012 cycle

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to HKFRSs
2011 — 2013 cycle

The application of these new and revised standards
and interpretations in the current year has had no
material effect on the amounts reported in these
consolidated financial statements and/or disclosures
set out in these consolidated financial statements.

The initial application of these financial reporting
standards does not necessitate material changes in the
Group’s accounting policies.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #{2 —E—AF 1+ -A=+—HILFZ

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continuea)

3.2 HKFRSs IN ISSUE BUT NOT YET

EFFECTIVE

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKFRS 11

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 38

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 41

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 10,

HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRSs

} Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

Financial instruments?

Revenue from contracts with
customers?

Accounting for acquisitions of
interests in joint
operations'

Disclosure initiative'

Clarification of acceptable methods of
depreciation and amortisation’

Agriculture: Bearer plants'
Sale or contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint

venture®

Investment entities: Applying the
consolidation exception'

Annual improvements to HKFRSs
2012-2014 cycle'

2016, with earlier application permitted.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2018, with earlier application permitted.

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to

be determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of the above new and revised HKFRSs will
have no material impact on the results and the financial
position of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #{2 —E—AF 1+ -A=+—HILFZ

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continuea)

3.2 HKFRSs IN ISSUE BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE (Continued)

The Group has commenced an assessment of the impact
of these new and amended HKFRSs but is not yet in a
position to state whether they would have a significant
impact on its results of operations and financial position.

4. REVENUE

The amount of each significant category of revenue recognised
during the years is analysed as follows:

3.2 ERMAEEKREN ZE
BRI EER (&)

AEBECRARFEZEFN RE
CRES R SR P 3
T8 BWRERPELFHN R
RIETEEMBERELANEDS
UAEELEXE NI BARRE
HEBRYE -

25

K% %EVW ERERBZEEBEAN
SRR GBI -

For the year ended
31 December

BE+t-A=T—-HLEE

2015 2014

—E-RF —ZE—EF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHExT FETT

Sales of construction materials THE SRR MR 22,133 43,966
FEEZEREBRAT

“E-hEFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #{2 —E—AF 1+ -A=+—HILFZ

5. OTHER REVENUE AND NET INCOME

5. Hftlizm R UA

g1 v7

FEl

For the year ended
31 December

BE+-A=+—HLEFE

2015 2014

—E-fHE ZE—mEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTHET FT

Interest income on bank deposit B|ITFERZ FEHA 16 76
Compensation income arising from BIRREMNRBELN

profit guarantee realisation EEEWA 36,000 36,000

Others Hity 1,207 82

37,223 36,158

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

6. BRBLAT (1) A

For the year ended
31 December

BE+T-A=1t—HLFE

2015 2014
—E2—FF —ZT—POE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FHT
Charging: kR -
Staff costs (including directors’ BTIA (BIEEEME)
emoluments)
— salaries, wages and other benefits — & TBENEMER 1,244 6,371
— retirement benefits scheme — RUREFIFH SR
contributions 18 64
Total staff costs B TRARR 1,262 6,435
Auditors’ remuneration =BT N & 1,150 1,150
Amortisation of intangible asset B A 2,776 2,911
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BERREBITE
equipment 913 1,026
Cost of inventories sold FrEFEMRA 21,998 43,704
Impairment loss recognised in respect MYE - BB RRERER
of property, plant and equipment ZBEEE — 298
Impairment loss recognised in respect BB EER
of intangible asset ZIBEEE 30,798 —
Provision of obsolete inventories PREFERE 4 —
Operating lease charges for premises BFREERNTH 1,226 1,214
Net exchange loss b 5 S R H R 283 416
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #{2 —E—AF 1+ -A=+—HILFZ

’ =r—A =
7. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND 7. ESRBESTHRAER
CHIEF EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION [
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) % = 7 % BiEFE DA IENE
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the 3BMNIER AT (BEEEFHER)
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of HEOIE 7B TEREMT ¢
Directors) Regulations are follows:
Salaries, Contributions
allowances Payment for to retirement
and benefits  termination benefits
Directors’ in kind of service scheme
For the year ended fees ¥d HER KRLEEZ BIRER Total
31 December 2015 £k BEMFE E:S TR it
BE-2-Af+t-A=t-H HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000
LEE THERT TET TERT TET TR
Executive directors HiTEE
Zhu Hai Hua REE
(Resigned on 9 March 2015) (R=ZE—1%F
ZANBEF) - — - - -
Ye De Chao =l — - — — —
Ji Xu Dong ESIEES — — — — _
Xu Xiao Jun BIME - - - - -
Independent non-executive BYFHITES
directors
He Jin Geng Bk 120 — — — 120
Yu Hong Gao B s 120 — — — 120
Chen Yang B# 120 - — — 120
360 - - - 360
Total &% 360 - - - 360
FEEZREBRAR

—E-AEFER
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #{2 —E—AF 1+ -A=+—HILFZ

7. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND

CHIEF EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION

7.

=
[

ERBESITHAE

(Continued)
Salaries, Contributions
allowances ~ Paymentfor  to retirement
and benefits  termination benefits
Directors’ in kind of service scheme
For the year ended fees #d - MER KRUEZREZ RINER Total
31 December 2014 EEHS EMFlm 3% HES G
HE-Z-MFE+-A=1+-H HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
LFE TR THT THET TR THT
Executive directors HITEE
Lee Siu Yuk, Eliza FXE
(Resigned on 30 September 2014) (RZT—mF
NA=1HEH) — 1,786 1,666 14 3,466
Zhu Hai Hua KEE
(Resigned on 9 March 2015) (R=Z—1F
= ANBEE) — = — — =
Ye De Chao ¥Ed — — — — —
Zhou Guo Chang [AEE
(Resigned on 13 January 2014) (RZT—mE
—A+=HET) — — — — =
Ji Xu Dong FHBE — — — — —
Xu Xiao Jun MR — = = = =
— 1,786 1,666 14 3,466
Independent non-executive BYFHTES
directors
Yuen Hon Ming, Edwin REH
(Retired on 6 June 2014) (RZZ—mF
~NASBR) 125 — — — 125
He Jin Geng 2 Ek 120 — — — 120
Yu Hong Gao B s 120 — = — 120
Chen Yang BF
(Appointed on 5 September 2014) (RZZ—WF
NARBEZH) 40 - — - 40
405 — — — 405
Total &t 405 1,786 1,666 14 3,871

BHE-_Z—HFEK-_FT—NFE+=H
=+—HIEFE AEELTEREAR
AEMEEZNEMMES A ERRSE
AR S B s N ARz 526 - &
ZE_ZT—HFEK=ZT—NF+=A
=+—HLEFE BERARTESNK
EZRAERETMAHE -

For the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors
of the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group. None of the directors of the Company waived or agreed
to waive any remuneration for the years ended 31 December
2015 and 2014.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #{2 —E—AF 1+ -A=+—HILFZ

8.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest paid emoluments, three
(2014 one) are directors whose emolument is disclosed in note
7. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other two
(2014 four) individuals are as follows:

RE#HAL

IfuGkeSHFALEE=2 (=N
F—R)EE EMSCRMETR
WEE - HBpMA (ZF—1F : &)
AL ZBEEENT

For the year ended
31 December
BE+-A=+—HLEFE

2015 2014

—E2—FF —ZT—pO4E

HK$’000 HK$'000

TE T FiBT

Salaries and other emoluments He hEmie 520 1,538
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme 3RKIE &I 7 18 39
538 1,577

The two (2014: four) individuals include one (2014: one) senior
management that is not a director of the Company and their
emoluments are within the following bands.

ME (ZE—NF: 0R) &SHALT
BiE—% (ZF—0F: —&) kAR
AEEZERERAE  BFZME
EET ©

Number of individuals

AE
2015 2014
—E-hF —EF—F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 % 1,000,0008 7T 2 4
2 4

For the year ended 31 December 2015, there was no
compensation paid for loss of office (2014: HK$438,632).

BE-_ZE—AFE+-A=+—HItE
€ EBBHE S MERFZUE (=
T —PU4F : 438,6327B7T) °

PEHEEZREARLTF
“E-AFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #{2 —E—AF 1+ -A=+—HILFZ

9. INCOME TAX

(A] TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

9. Fi8

F

(A]

e R e 2 IR -

REPRESENTS:
For the year ended
31 December
BE+-A=1+—-HLEE
2015 2014
—E-REF —ZT-F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FiET
Current tax BIEABTE
Hong Kong Profits Tax BANEB = —
The PRC Corporate Income Tax R TSR = —
Deferred tax credit EERIHIK R (8,394) (727)
(8,394) (727)

No Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided in the
consolidated financial statements as the Group has no
estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for the
years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.

The Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to the
PRC Corporate Income Tax at 25% (2014: 25%). Taxes
on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated
at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which
the Group operates, based on prevailing legislation,
interpretations and practice in respect thereof during the
year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #{2 —E—AF 1+ -A=+—HILFZ

9. INCOME TAX (Continued) 9.

(B) RECONCILIATION BETWEEN TAX EXPENSE
AND ACCOUNTING PROFIT/[LOSS] AT
APPLICABLE RATES:

A reconciliation of the income tax applicable to (loss)/profit
before taxation as follows:

FTEH @

(B] ZIEBHBFENEZHE
P B Ea i A O
B) 2HHRUT -

R R R BAT (518) /2
FrGBILIRmMT :

For the year ended
31 December

BE+-A=+—HLFE

2015 2014
—ZE-EfF —E-mEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FBT FHT
(Loss)/profit before taxation BELAT (B18) a7 (5,761) 15,308
Tax at effective tax rate 16.5% RERBIE16.5%
(2014: 16.5%) (ZE—0F : 16.5%)
FEZHA (951) 2,526
Tax effect of share of results of e /NS E
associates IR E 128 493
Tax effect of expenses not deductible  NEJFIEFI S 2 B S &
for tax purpose 6,470 1,352
Tax effect of income not taxable for BERTBA 2 MBTE
tax purpose (11,481) (6,392)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised  RIER 2 FiIEE 18
OEhvS 7 294 1,541
Effect of different tax rates of the AEEE AT
companies of the Group MERNR 22 (2,854) (247)
Income tax credit FristisE e (8,394) (727)
FEERREERAT

—s_nzEg 79
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —F—AF+=-HA=+—HIFZF

10.SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment revenue represents revenue generated from external
customers and the sales of natural gas pipeline construction
materials. There were no inter-segment sales during the year
(2014: HK$nil).

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment performance
is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/(loss), which
is a measure of segment profit/(loss). The segment profit/
(loss) represents the result generated from each segment with
allocation of (i) general and administrative expenses, selling
and distribution costs and other operating expenses under
the heading of other corporate expenses; (ii) share of results
of associates; (iii) interests income; and (iv) net exchange
gain and other compensation income under the heading of
other operating income. This is the measure reported to the
chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, all assets are allocated
to reportable segments other than corporate assets.

In a manner consistent with the way in which information is
reported internally to chief operating decision maker for the
purposes of resources allocation and performance assessment,
the Group is currently organised into the following operating
segments and geographical areas:

(a) Natural gas segment engages in sales of pipelined natural
gases, and its construction materials in the PRC; and

(b) Investment holding segment engages in investment in
associates on a geographical basis of the PRC.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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AR
10. 7 2P E ! »)
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results UTERBEE-_E—RAFER=_2—H

E—l—:ﬂz—l— BIEEEAEERE
B &I 2 Was R REZ D -

10.SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

by operating segment for the years ended 31 December 2015
and 2014:

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE-B-EFT-A=t-ALEE

Investment
Natural gas holding  Unallocated Total
AR REER KB fam
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TART TAT THET TEx
Segment revenue ok L
From external customers REIBRP 22,133 — = 22,133
Segment profit/(loss) AEEF/ (FB) 135 — — 135
Interest income FIEHA 16 — — 16
Other operating income, net Hip BN T8 1 36,000 1,206 37207
Share of results of associates RN R 2 £ - (777) = (777)
Other corporate expenses Hip b EFAY (35,545) (4,669) (2,128) (42,342)
(Loss)/profit from operations o (B8B) wR (35,393) 30,554 (922) (5,761)
Finance costs BB A - - - -
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRBA (F18) %A (35,393) 30,554 (922) (5,761)
Income tax FiEH 8,394 — — 8,394
Profit/(loss) for the year ERER (R (26,999) 30,554 (922) 2,633
Other segment information Hi o HER
Impairment loss recognised in respect  #LER/ B ERER
of intangible asset JREEE (30,798) - - (30,798)
Amortisation g (2,777) — — (2,777)
Depreciation e (780) — (133) (913)
Segment assets DHEE 420,209 379,950 316,317 1,116,476
Segment liabilities NEBE 5,289 213,808 9,655 228,752
FEERREERAT
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continueq) 10. & ER @

For the year ended 31 December 2014
HE_ZT-MET-_A=1+-HLEE

Investment
Natural gas holding Unallocated Total
KRR REER RO ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET THET THEL THET
Segment revenue 2B
From external customers KEMpER 43,966 — — 43,966
43,966 — — 43,966
Segment profit/(loss) AEEF/ (FB) 262 = = 262
Interest income FEBA 76 = = 76
Other operating income, net Hing Bl 58 — 36,000 82 36,082
Share of results of associates BB E AR 2 #E - (2,986) — (2,986)
Other corporate expenses Hipt%R% (5,298) (4,284) (8,544) (18,126)
Profit/(loss) from operations SRR/ (HE) (4,960) 28,730 (8,462) 15,308
Finance costs B AR — — — —
Profit/(loss) before taxation BB AER (F8) (4,960) 28,730 (8,462) 15,308
Income tax FiEH 727 — — 727
Profit/(loss) for the year ERER/ (FB) (4,233) 28,730 (8,462) 16,035
Other segment information HitnHER
Additions to non-current assets ERBEELRE 8 — — 8
Impairment loss recognised in respect  FLEWE S8R K
of trade and other receivables HifelamR
ZAEEE — (298) — (298)
Amortisation i = (2,911) — (2,911)
Depreciation e (712) — (314) (1,026)
Segment assets DEHEE 469,736 403,324 73,600 946,660
Segment liabilities NEHEE 5,051 3,410 19,248 27,709
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #{2 —E—AF 1+ -A=+—HILFZ

10.SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

11.

INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR CUSTOMERS

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group had one
(2014: two) transactions with external customers which
individually contributed to 10% or more of the Group’s total
revenue.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following
data:

(A] BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share amount is
based on the net profit for the year of approximately
HK$5,249,000 (2014: HK$16,370,000) attributable to
equity holders of the Company, and weighted average of
4,269,910,510 (2014: 4,269,910,510) ordinary shares in
issue during the year.

(B] DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

The Group had no potential dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during the year ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.

10.

11.

DEER )
ZERFZEH

HE - Z—HF+_-_A=+—HItHF
B AEEE-FZ(ZT—HF: W
H)INBRPENTR S - SEAKERZ
WEEZ 10% KA E o

BRABR

ARREEAEESREAREER
R TYIRIE TR -

(A) ZIRBEARZEF
EREXRBMNIIRBEFALRRD
AEREEABRERFNFELY
5,249,000 7T ( =& — [0 £ -
16,370,000/ 7T) REFERNE AT
T mAR hNEF19%04,269,910,510
fg (ZZ—m4F : 4,269,910,510
IR) EHE -

(B) ER#EERF
BE_Z—RAFR-_FT—HHF
+_A=+—BLFE ~5E
MEARERTELRELR
H& °

PEHEEZREARLTF
“E-AFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #{2 —E—AF 1+ -A=+—HILFZ

12. 1% - BERKRE

Furniture
Construction- Plantand  Leasehold Office Motor and
in-progress Pipelines Building ~ machinery Improvements  equipment Vehicles fixtures Total
HBIR BE BT HEREE HEMEEE  BOTRE RE BAREE &t
HK§000 HKS000 HK$000 HKS§000 HK$'000 HKS§'000 HKS§'000 HKS§'000 HKS§'000
TER TER TER TEn TEn TEn TER TiEn TER
Cost HA
At 1 January 2014 RZF-ME-A-A 10,346 122 3922 5492 167 911 1,768 515 23243
Additions AE - - - - - 8 - - 8
Written off ik - - - - - - (1,278) - (1,278)
Exchange alignments EHAE (199) 3 (74) (30) = (1) = = (307)
At31December 014and  MZF-EETZA=1-H
1 January 2015 k=Z-1%-A-A 10,147 19 3848 5462 167 918 490 515 21,666
Exchange alignments EiA% (638) (5) (159) (300) = (14) (5) = (1,121)
At 31 December 2015 RZF-EE+ZR=1-H 9,509 114 3,689 5,162 167 904 485 515 20,545
Accumulated depreciation  BiHFERHE
and impairment
At 1 January 2014 RZ5-ME-f-A 6,412 73 2345 3521 18 456 739 217 13,781
Charge for the year REER = = = 675 58 213 15 65 10%
Impairment loss TEEE - - - - = = (298) = (298)
Bxchange alignments EREE - - - (60) - (12) @ ] (107)
At31December 014and  M=F-BET=A=1-A
1 January 2015 k=5-1%-A-A 6,412 73 2345 4136 76 657 429 214 14,402
Charge for the year REER = = = 639 58 127 % 65 913
Bxchange alignments EiAE - - - (90) - () §) = (98)
At 31 December 2015 R=E-BE+ZA=1-A 6,412 73 2,345 4,685 134 m 450 339 15,217
Carrying amounts BEE
At 31 December 2015 R=E-EE+-A=1-A 3,097 4 1,344 an 3 125 35 176 5,328
At 31 December 2014 RZZ-ME+=A=1-R 373 4 1503 1326 91 261 61 41 7,064

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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12.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12.¥1% - BERRE =)

(Continued)
The above items of property, plant and equipment are Ltz BERXEEBEZATE
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per RABEGFEENE
annum:
Pipelines 3'/:% EE 31/3%
Building 2 - 33'/s% or over the lease term, BF 2 - 33'/5% sk 1% 5
if shorter (A& & R2%E)
Plant and machinery 10 - 20% B B i 23 10 - 20%
Leasehold improvements ~ Over the lease term MEMERE REH
Office equipment 10 - 20% N 10 - 20%
Motor vehicles 10 - 20% TE 10 - 20%
Furniture and fixtures 10 - 20% EMREE 10 - 20%
The carrying value of land under construction-in-progress was REBMBHERETIRE L 2 REER
held under medium-term lease on the PRC. AR BER R HAE AR -
13.GOODWILL 13. 88
2015 2014
—B-HF —EPF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Cost AR
At 1 January and at 31 December W—RA—BE+ZA=+—H 27,118 27,118
Accumulated impairment losses ZItEEER
At 1 January and at 31 December R—A—BE+=ZA=+—H 27,118 27,118
Carrying amounts IREE
At 31 December R+ZH=+—H — —
Goodwill represents the cash-generating unit (‘CGU”) of natural HERERAREBZREELEN
gas operation, which had been fully impaired in prior years. ([REELEM])  IRUEFED
EITRERE °
FEERREERAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —F—AF+=-HA=+—HIFZF

The intangible asset represents a concession agreement of
natural gas project in the PRC with useful lives of 30 years.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group appointed an independent
valuation firm to determine the recoverable amount of cash
generating unit (“CGU”) for natural gas operation based on
value in use calculation. The calculation incorporated cash
flows projections based on financial budgets as approved
by management at a Weighted Average Cost of Capital of
29.31% (2014: 14.25%). As the recoverable amount of the
CGU of natural gas operation was below the carrying amount
approximately HK$30,798,000 impairment loss has been
recognised (2014: HK$NIl).

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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/ ~
14.INTANGIBLE ASSET 14. BFEEE
Concession agreement
SRR R
2015 2014
—E-hF ZE—mEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Cost RRAS
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—BE+=ZA=+—H 170,285 170,285
Accumulated amortisation and HEFtBHERAE
impairment
At 1 January ®—A—H 98,093 95,182
Amortisation charged for the year FIAZ Y #E 2,777 2,911
Impairment loss provided for the year FANBEBEEHE 30,798 —
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 131,668 98,093
Carrying amounts SRMEE
At 31 December W+—_A=+—8H 38,617 72,192

BIEERAEAFHA0FZH
RINFIA B e ities o

R_ZE—AF+_A=+—8 A&
EEZRE—HBLHEAR - UIRE
FREBEFELIETARRELRS
ELXBM([REELENMN]) 2l
B¢ - ZetEHERARBEERE
LR BT BRTE B AR It F 19 B A AK
K29.31%( = T — M F : 14.25%)
SHEzBEeREEM - ARKAR
EBReEAENZTRESEE
REEEE AHERIABREEELY
30,798,000 7c (Z T —F : T
JT) °
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15.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

15. REFE A R 2 s

2015 2014
—ZE2—F8F —E—O4F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FBT FiET
At 1 January R—HA—H 347,348 350,970
Share of post-acquisition loss of FEAGEE = QR IB 1R B 1E
associates (777) (2,986)
Share of post-acquisition reserves of  JE{GHE & N &)Uk BB 1 (5
associates (2,707) (636)
At 31 December W+=—A=+—8H 343,864 347,348

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Group’s interests in
associates represent 40% equity interests in Forward Investment
(PRC) Company Limited and its subsidiaries (“Forward
Investment”).

RZZE—RAFEEZT—NWFE+=A
=+t—H AEBRBERT 2R
ERZFMIEE () AR A E R EMH
BATF ([FMIKE]) 2 40% IRHE -

PEHEEZREARLTF
“E-AFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —F—AF+=-HA=+—HIFZF

15.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continuea)

Details of Forward Investment are as follows:

(i)

On 27 September 2012, Keen Gate Developments
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a subscription agreement to subscribe the
approximately 40% equity interests in Forward Investment
(the “Subscription”). The Subscription was completed on
10 December 2012.

Pursuant to the subscription agreement, Mr. Ye De Chao,
an executive director of the Company and the original
beneficial owner of Forward Investment (collectively
referred to as the “Guarantors”) jointly and severally
guaranteed the dividend income distributed by Forward
Investment to the Group. The Guarantors will provide
compensation income to the Group if the dividend income
from Forward Investment is lower than HK$36,000,000
(12% of the consideration of the Subscription) per annum.
The guarantee will be valid from the completion date (10
December 2012) of the Subscription and up to the Group
ceases to be a shareholder of Forward Investment. During
the year, the compensation income of approximately
HK$36,000,000 (2014: HK$36,000,000) was recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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15. Rt E N B 2= )

FIREFIBWOT ¢

(i)

RZTE—=—FNALA=++tH " &K
Rl —REENBARIREER
ERAREI L —HREHEAR
BRI E Z2440% M1 ([RE
B2H]) RBFEEINR_Z—C
F+—A+THZEK °

BRERERE NG RITES
EEBEERRNREZRES
BBEAN (BBAIERAD #E
REREREFIEEMAER D
k2B BN o (A1 & R it
2 FE B U A KR 36,000,000
BT (RBEEREZ12%) - &
RABRAERREFHERA -
ZERKERBESETKAH
(ZBE——F+=-A+A) 5%
AEETHARMTERF I
MAEM - RAFE - HEKRAL
36,000,000 7L (ZF — P04 :
36,000,000/ 7T) ERFEER
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15.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 15. REFE QR T 2R )

(i) Summary of financial information of the Forward

Investment

M E 2 M EERE

As at 31 December

R+=—HA=+—8H
2015 2014
—E-hF —ET—mF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Total assets BERE 1,061,214 951,686
Total liabilities BfERsE (792,383) (664,988)
Net assets BEFE 268,831 286,698
Group's share of net assets of AEB L E QA
associates BEFE 107,532 114,679
For the year ended
31 December
BE+-A=+—HLEFE
2015 2014
—F-1F —T-mF
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Total revenue s 110,285 129,345
Loss for the year FANEBE (1,943) (7,466)
Group’s share of loss of associates REEEIREEE AT
BB (777) (2,986)
Group’s share of reserves RE B GRS (2,707) (636)
FEEEREBRAT
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15.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continueq)

15. REF&E DB 2 B )

(i) At 31 December 2015 and 2014, Forward Investment had (i) RZE—RAFR-FT—NF+=
the following subsidiaries: A=+—8" %%ﬂ&éf%ﬁlx/(T
HEBAT :
Place of
incorporation and
principal place Attributable equity
of operation Registered and interest held
Name MR B R paid up capital by the Group Principal activities
A% TEEXH EMRESRE FEEFEREZLA FEXK
Forward Investment (PRC) Hong Kong HK$27,339,422 40% Investment holding
Company Limited £ 27,339,422 7% T REER
ZMRE (HE) BRAA
Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property The PRC RMB260,000,000% 40% Property development and
Company Limited* H AR 260,000,000 75 property investment
HRENBMERFRAT RMB255,366,619° NEFRERDFRE
AR™ 255366,6197°
3 For identification purposes only * EHER
# Registered capital & FMER
b Paid up capital 2 B

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —F—AF+=-HA=+—HIFZF

16. RIE A R 2 &=

TRIEAEEZ TEHMERR] - Bk
SBERBPEIN - FRRO BRI RE

16.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains the principal subsidiaries of the
Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise

stated.

AR -

Particulars of

issued and Proportion of
paid up capital/ effective interest
Place of registered capital held by the Group
Name of subsidiary incorporation BRTREARA/ rEERE Principal activities
WEARER RRTAR:E AR A E ERER 2l FTEXK
Directly Indirectly
H# A&
Prospect Sync Holdings Limited The British 1 share of US$1 100% = Investment holding
Virgin Islands 1 RREE 1 E T2 B RARR
(the “BVI")
RERAEE
((RBRXES])
Honesty Services Limited Hong Kong 1 share 100% — Holding of
EERKER R B 1RAR 7 motor vehicles
RERE
Honesty Treasure Limited Hong Kong 2 shares 50% 50% Provision of
EERRER AR 0 2R 1A management
Services
REERRL
Success Take Limited The BVI 1 share of US$1 100% — Investment holding
RERAEE 1REE 1 F T2 RiD REZR
City Vision Investments Limited Hong Kong 1 share = 100% Investment holding
RERERRATF BB 1R REZR
Ampleline Holdings Limited The BVI 1 share of US$1 100% — Investment holding
RERAHE 1REE 1 F T2 RiD REZR
Patient Holdings Limited The BVI 1 share of US$1 100% — Inactive
RERAHE 1REE1ETZRH TEXH
TEERRERRAR

—E-AEFER
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16.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES coninves)y  16. RHIB AT 2 R 2

Particulars of

issued and Proportion of
paid up capital/ effective interest
Place of registered capital held by the Group
Name of subsidiary incorporation BRTREHARE/ AEEEE Principal activities
WELRER AR e B aMBAFEE ERER 2l TEXK
Directly Indirectly
B B
Nantong Shengjie Infrastructure The PRC US$5,000,000%° — 100% Construction projects
Development Limited* (note (i) H 5,000,000 % 0 Hit@ipiE g
HRRREARRERRERAT
(3£ ()
Sun On Chung King Hong Kong 1 share — 100% Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited N 1M AR RARR
MR (BE) BRAF
Xinan Zhongjing Gas The PRC RMB10,000,000%° — 90% Natural gas
Company Limited* (note (ii)) HE AR #10,000,000 7T # construction
FERRREARAR) (BHFE (i) projects
RARERIAR
Xinan Shengjie Gas The PRC RMB30,000,000¢ — 100% Natural gas
Company Limited* (note (iii) HE AKH#30,000,0007* construction
ML EERRER A (P (i) RMB6,000,000° projects
AK#6,000,0007T° RAARERER
Keen Gate Developments Limited The BVI 1 share of US$1 100% — Investment holding
BREERBB AT HERNES 1REE 12T R REER
Bright Talent Investments Limited Hong Kong 1 share 100% — Inactive
REREARAT BB 1BRAR (7 EEEY

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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16.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continvesy 16, R A B 2 #E %% ()

Notes: BsE -
The Group does not have any material non-controlling interests as at 31 RZE—AFRZT—WOFF+A=+—
December 2015 and 2014. B - AEEBEES E AR R -
() Registered under the laws of the PRC as wholly owned foreign ()  BEPBEIEEIMAINEGEERE -
enterprise.
(i) Registered under the laws of the PRC as domestic enterprise. (i) WBEFEVEEIMAERNEDE -
(i)  Registered under the laws of the PRC as one person limited iy REPEZEZIME—_ATRELR
liability enterprise. Al e
. For identification purposes only * EHHER
# Registered capital & FfER
b Paid up capital z BEHRRAR
‘€=
17.INVENTORIES 17. 78
2015 2014
—F-1F —TmF
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Construction materials SR 56 60
FEERREERAT

—g-zzzg 109



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e AR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #{2 —E—AF 1+ -A=+—HILFZ

B xh
18. TRADE RECEIVABLES 18. BN E Z BR X
2015 2014
—F-1F —T-mF
HK$°’000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Trade debtors FEWE 5 8RR Note 30 30
Less: Impairment loss recognised & : IR ZRIEETE FaE (30) (30)
Movement of impairment loss recognised in respect of trade HEWE ZFERFERBRESEZS
debtors is shown as follows: HIREAT
2015 2014
—F-1F —T-mF
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FAT
At 1 January n—H—H 30 30
Impairment recognised ERRBIE — —
At 31 December W+=A=+—8 30 30
Notes: BisE
The Group generally allowed an average credit period due within 30 REE-REKRE S ERFRE T T8
days to its trade debtors. BIORMEEH -
In determining the recoverability of trade receivables, the Group EETEWNE SRR AT KEESE - A
considers any change in the credit quality of the trade debtors from the CEeEREKESREFEEEEARD
date credit was initially granted up to the end of the reporting period. All EAEREHRZEELR LR 2 A
the trade debtors are due within 30 days or on demand. &) o FrAREWE ZERFN 30BN HzkA
RERIEER -
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19.DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENT AND OTHER 19

RS - BAREREM

=h
RECEIVABLES FEUWRRIE
2015 2014
—B-AF —ZE-F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FT
Deposits, prepayments and & - BRNRIE Note
other receivables T E b W SR IE i 322,203 166,799
Less: Impairment loss recognised & : FiiE& « FEMNFIE
in respect of deposits, R e I8
prepayment and R 2BIERTE
other receivables — —
322,203 166,799

Note:

Included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables of was
compensation income receivable approximately HK$36,000,000 (2014
HK$36,000,000), details of which has been set out in Note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of
trade and other receivables approximate to its fair values.

Wi

BNRIE - R REMERRESIERRK
HEUA 436,000,000 7T (—ZF—P4F :
36,000,00087T) * AREFIEHNGE TS
WEMFE5 -

RRBEERBEWE BRI N E YL
FIRZ FREEEAE QAT ERS o

PEHEEZREARLTF
“E-AFFR
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20.CASH AND BANK BALANCES

20. B RIR1THER

2015 2014

—E-HF —T-MmF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHExT FET

Cash and cash equivalents ReRReSEY 90,669 20,194
Notes: MIEE

1.

Included in cash and bank balances of the Group, approximately
HK$89,531,000 (2014: HK$18,880,000) of bank balances are
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”). RMB is not a freely convertible
currency. However, under the Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Included in the cash and bank balances of the Group,
approximately HK$851,092 (2014: HK$12,000) are denominated
in United States Dollars (“USD”).

Bank balances earn interests at floating rate and fixed rate, and
are placed and deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent
history of default.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #{2 —E—AF 1+ -A=+—HILFZ

21.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

21. 18 {1 B 5 IR 5K R B At

DS

2015 2014

—E-HF —T-MmF

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000

Bt s FEx FHT

Trade creditors FERTE SR (a) 3,132 3,312
Accruals and other payables FEETER R EM

FERTEIR (b) 215,778 4,571
Due to non-controlling interests FET IR AR AR 5

HERTIA (c) 187 1,777

219,097 9,660

(a) Ageing analysis of trade creditors is as follows: (@) BENESERRZERESTOT

2015 2014

—E-1F —T-MmF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FHET

Due within 30 days or on demand 30 HAE|HAgk iR &k — —

Due within 31 to 60 days 31 HZE 60 HREHS — —

Due within 61 to 90 days 61 HZE90 HREHS — —

Due over 90 days BB 90 B B Hf 3,132 3,312

3,132 SI3il2

(c)

(d)

At 31 December 2015, included in accruals and other
payables was approximately HK$1,811,000 (2014:
HK$1,776,000) due to independent third parties which
was unsecured, bearing interest at 2.5% per annum and
repayable on demand.

At 31 December 2015 and 2014, amounts due to non-
controlling interests was unsecured, non-interest bearing
and have no fixed terms of repayments.

The directors of the Company consider the fair values
of Group and the Company’s trade and other payables
approximate its carrying amounts.

(b) RZE—RHFE+=—A=+—8"

EETERAREMBENRIBRIES
RIILE =5 2 FIEHI1,811,000
BT (ZZE—M4F ¢ 1,776,000 %
TL)  BEIE - IRFB25ER
BRIREREE -

(c) RZE—HFRZZT—NF+=
A=+—8 ' B IEERR R
mREREER R ERERT
B -

(d) ARAEZR/AKERART]
ZIENE SRR R E R 5RIR
Z A EERREERS °

PEHEEZREARLTF
“E-AFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —F—AF+=-HA=+—HIFZF

22.DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

22 EERIBEEE

Intangible

assets

BILEE

HK$'000

FAT

At 1 January 2014 RZZE—mF—H—AH 18,776

Credited to profit or loss Rigzm AR (727)
At 31 December 2014 and WZE-—MF+-_A=+—H

1 January 2015 MZF—HF—H—H 18,049

Credited to profit or loss RiE= AR (8,394)

At 31 December 2015 R=Z-AF+=-A=+—H 9,655

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$37,110,000 (2014: HK$35,329,000)
available for offset against future profits that may be carried

forward indefinitely. No deferred tax asset has been recognised

in respect of the tax losses due to the unpredictability of future

profit streams.

23.EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

(a)

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject
to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2015
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #{2 —E—AF 1+ -A=+—HILFZ

23.EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS 23. BEEERKER =

(Continued)

(b) Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in (b) RIFEFEIARELS THRARER -
the PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution 7N 55 [ 22 B ARl b 7 IR T A
retirement benefit schemes (the “Schemes”) organised K 2 FBOE ORI E R EE
by the relevant local government authorities, whereby the (ZE5TE)) - Bt - X&EE A
Group is required to make contributions to the Schemes at REEREEBHE25%E 2L
a rate ranging from 5% of the eligible employees’ salaries. KRS EIMEL R - K
The local government authorities are responsible for the H#EaE2HENERKESR
entire pension obligations payable to retired employees ZERRESEME  BRELRFE 2
which are calculated based on a certain percentage of the aTE LEFE -
basic payroll.

24.CAPITAL AND RESERVES 24. IR K
(A] SHARE CAPITAL (A] BA
Number of shares Nominal value
RHER EE
2015 2014 2015 2014
“E2-RF _T-MNF ZB-RF _T-NOF
’000 '000 HK$°000 HK$'000
TR Fk THT AT
Authorised: ETE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each  SR&TE{E0.05/8 7T
2 EmR 10,000,000 10,000,000 500,000 500,000
Ordinary shares: Bk
Issued and fully paid: BEETREART
At 1 January R—HA—H 4,269,910 4,269,910 213,496 213,496
At 31 December Wt—A=+—8H 4,269,910 4,269,910 213,496 213,496
FEERREERAT

—z_nEgm 110
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24. BRA R % =

(B] EXEH#

24. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continueq)

(B] CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities AEEZEAEEE EBRRAS
within the Group will be able to continue as a going BIETEREESELSE  WHE
REBBCEKEER 2 TE -
HmMeERBEEAFRESE
e AEBHFBEFRE 2EE
REETE o

concern while maximising the return to stakeholders
through the optimization of its debt and equity balance.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from
prior years.

AEBZERARBEEABEFR
(HBREEMERAE e MIRITHER
&2 A BT RIE) RARRA R
BAEGLERD (BRAKEZE

The capital structure of the Group consist of net debt,
which includes other payables net of cash and bank
balances, and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves

of the Group.

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2015 and 2014 were

as follows:

BITRA R FHR) ©

RIZE—RAFER-_ZT—NFE+=
B=+—BzB@EHRMT :

2015 2014
—E-1F —T-MF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
FaE FHBT FT
Current liabilities: RENEE :
Other payables E At eI IR 1,811 1,776
1,811 1,776
Total debts BE8% 1,811 1,776
Less: cash and W Re R
cash equivalents REeEEY (90,669) (20,194)
Net debt EEFE 88,858 (18,418)
Equity R 883,197 912,025
Net debt to equity ratio BEFEENER
[ 3 N/A T3 A N/A 5@ A

,l,lé CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2015
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25.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 25. & A B Z iR K
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY R

[A] STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF [A] K2\ 5] 2 B8 8 7%
THE COMPANY
2015 2014
—E—hF —E—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

NON-CURRENT ASSET FRBEE

Interests in subsidiaries NGIEYNGIPA: E 976,172 870,167
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Deposits, prepayment and &% B ZIENRHAM
other receivables FEI IR 502 537
Cash and bank balances Re MIRTT4E % 63 819
565 1,356
Assets classified as held DEEHEHEESE
for sale 18,620 18,620
19,185 19,976

CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and other payables FERTE 5 BR R B EL A

FEA3RIE (213,808) (3,410)
(213,808) (3,410)
FEHERREBRAT

—g_zzeg 117
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #{2 —E—AF 1+ -A=+—HILFZ

25.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

(A] STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

25. R DA 2 MR R T K

w2

[A] K2\ 5] 2 B B 7 (&)

THE COMPANY (Continued)
2015 2014
=F-IF —F0mF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAET
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE (194,623) 16,566
TOTAL ASSETS LESS HEERRBEE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 781,549 886,733
NET ASSETS EEFE 781,549 886,733
CAPITAL AND RESERVES RAK s
Share capital &N 213,496 213,496
Reserves ] 568,053 673,237
TOTAL EQUITY DA 781,549 886,733

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
31 March 2016.

Ye De Chao
HEEHE
Director

EF

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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25.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

(B] MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY’S RESERVE

25. R DA 2 MR R T K

@ )

(B] XL\ Atz

Capital
redemption
reserve
Share Share (Note) Accumulated
capital premium EAREE i losses Total
e RADEE (FyaE) 2ER At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TAET FET TAET T
At 1 January 2014 RZZ—M$—H—H 213,496 756,049 69 (71,999) 897,615
Loss for the year FAEE — = = (10,882) (10,882)
At 31 December 2014and  R=T—MF
1 January 2015 TZA=+-Ak
—Z-n%5—-H—H 213,496 756,049 69 (82,881) 886,733
Loss for the year FREE — — = (105,184) (105,184)
At 31 December 2015 R=B-1fF
+=A=+-H 213,496 756,049 69 (188,065) 781,549

The Group’s reserves and the movements therein are presented
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity of these
consolidated financial statements.

AEBZHBRERESINGEE Y
BHRERZIFARREBRAZT -

PEHEEZREARLTF
“E-AFFR
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26. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR

SALE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R ER R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —F—AF+=-HA=+—HIFZF

TRASFHEEE

2015 2014
—E-EHF —T—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FiBT
Assets: BE -

Interest in an associate I /N o e 285,182 301,560

Financial asset at fair value through AR EET AR
profit or loss ZEmEE 7,350 7,350
Amount due from an associate JFE U — Bt 2 R B 0B 23,207 23,893
315,739 332,803

On 20 March 2013, the Company announced the decision of
its board of directors to dispose of Beijing Zhonggang Green
Energy Investment Consulting Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries.
The disposal is due to be completed on 30 September 2014.
As at 31 December 2013, final negotiations for the sale were
in progress and Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy Investment
Consulting Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries were classified as a
disposal group held for sale.

During the year ended 31 December 2014 and 31 December
2015, the Company had entered into the second and third
supplemental agreement to extend the expected completion
date of the disposal of Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy
Investment Consulting Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries to 31 March
2015 and 31 December 2015 respectively.

Included in assets classified as held for sales, interest in an
associate of HK$285,182,000 (2014: HK$301,560,000) has
been measured based on account record up to 30 June
2012. As the directors of the Company have not been able
to obtain adequate and reliable financial information from
the management of the associate (Beijing Zhonggang Green
Energy Group); the directors of the Company consider that the
consolidated financial statements of the Beijing Zhonggang
Green Energy Group for the six months ended 30 June 2012
was practicably the most recent available financial information.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2015
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26.

27.

ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR
SALE (Continued)

Included in amounts due from associates are the amounts due
from Changdongshun of which an amount of approximately
HK$11,270,000 (2014: HK$11,270,000) is interest free
and an amount of approximately HK$11,937,000 (2014:
HK$12,623,000) is interest bearing at 5.85% p.a. (2014: 5.85%
p.a.). The amounts due from Changdongshun are unsecured

DRBEFHEEE @

I B #911,270,0007% Tt (
T — PO 4 : 11,270,000 7T) % 8
N #911,937,0008 T (ZE — W F :
12,623,000 7T) IR F| & 5.85% (=
T—POF : FFE585%) 5T 8 o fEUK

JEJ%Z REFRIA 5 A FE Y Bt = A 7
.

and recoverable on demand. 8 RIEFIE A EE A R R E kKUK
@ o
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 27. €FTH
The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other rEETEsHIERIERKES
receivables, trade and other payables, cash and bank balances R R EAMEWRIE - BNE SRR
and were classified into the categories as follows: &ﬁ1ﬁf1‘f RIE - e RIBITES
/‘\*E;ZDT
2015 2014
—E-RF —mE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Financial assets SRIEE
Loans and receivables B ERGOR 196,497 97,950
Financial liabilities tHREeE
Amortised cost i3RI 219,097 9,660

Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes to these consolidated financial statements. The risks
associated with these financial instruments are limited and
the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

The Group has exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and
currency risks that arise in the normal course of the Group’s
business. The Group is also exposed to equity price risk arising
from movements in its own equity share price.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s exposure
in respect of financial instruments or the manner in which it
manages and measures the risks.

ZECRMTAZHFBRANGRE M HR
REAZWaEFREE BzEemT
BEREzRRER - mEEZERR
ZHERHEN T - EEETERER
ZERR - ARRERI A K E HE
BE 2 -

AEEZEE RPEE - FNEXRE
BRI ARE 2 — ﬁx%fl‘“ﬂkﬁiﬂ
Ex- $E.7T-E$%Tgﬁﬂxf
/2 BE) - MAREERERER

AEBEFHAem T A EREERRE
EENEEEBRR 2T AREER

4

= >
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —F—AF+=-HA=+—HIFZF

AN
A

27.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

[A) CREDIT RISK

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
and other receivables and cash and bank balances.
Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring
credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on
the customer’s past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining
to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are due within a year. Debtors
with balances that are more than a year past due are
requested to settle all outstanding balances before
any further credit is granted. Normally, the Group does
not obtain collateral from its customers. Based on the
expected recoverability and timing for collection of the
outstanding balances, the Group maintains a provision for
impairment of receivables and actual losses incurred have
been within management’s expectation.

In respect of cash and bank balances, the Group limits its
exposure to credit risk by transacting with approved and
reputable banks with high credit ratings. Bankruptcy or
insolvency of these banks may cause the Group’s rights
with respect to these assets held to be delayed or limited.
The Group monitors the credit ratings of these banks on an
ongoing basis, and considers that the Group’s exposure to
credit risk at 31 December 2015 and 2014 were minimal.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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27.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(A)

(B)

CREDIT RISK (Continued)

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking
account of any collateral held is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset after deducting
any impairment allowance.

LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to
meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as
possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet
its liabilities when due, without incurring unacceptable
losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to approval by the parent company’s board when
the borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels of
authority. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its
liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of
cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term.

27. €M HE =

(A) EEEE #)

RANERRER (D&t RAERA
FrifWm) DIERBREREER
EHTRERBR ZREE -

(B] B EZ SR

MEE RRRIERNEEREET
M B EEMES 2R o K
SEERRBERZHAREA
EREREEERERBES - A
ﬁﬁﬂ%%ﬁﬁ?ﬁ@KElL

REEXZEEBERE -

$ElﬁTﬂﬂ”@ BEAERE
HEAZRE @%E%ﬁ
%E%&Q&PME KA FH TR
HReFX  ERIEEBBET
BB E 2 REKFE - HAR

RAEFEZHAE - NEE
ZHRRENERERBDESH
EREBTERIEZIBR A
FERE M FF B IR [l R
M E BT HEEBIRME 2 AR
MEEE  NENRHEERHR
HEELH

PEREEZREARLT
“E-AFFR

123



124

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #{2 —E—AF 1+ -A=+—HILFZ

27.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(B) LIQUIDITY RISK (cContinued)

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s
non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the end of reporting period) and
the earliest date the Group can be required to pay.

27. £/ T B )

(B) EIE LR &)

TREIIAKE ZFITEESRE
BERREMRZBTAOHRF
B DRBOEFTRRERE
(BREBOEMNE - HMGF
BHX - AIRBERR2EITH
RFHEZMENFK) AEAEH
AREARRZ &F A AEE

:Er o
Total
contractual
undiscounted Within
cash flows 1 year or on
Carrying HE demand
amount KTRES —FRH
IREE REmE RER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET
At 31 December 2015 R-E—-HF
+=A=+—-H
Other payable H b 30a 1,881 1,881 1,881
Trade creditors ERE SRR 3,132 3,132 3,132
Accruals and other payables FERTE A R HLA FE T 5RIR 213,897 213,897 213,897
Due to non-controlling interests FEH3H WX Rz 5 IR 187 187 187
219,097 219,097 219,097
At 31 December 2014 RZZE—F
+-A=+—H
Other payable H A eI 5RIR 1,776 1,776 1,776
Trade creditors eS8 SRR 3,312 3,312 3,312
Accruals and other payables FERTE A R E A RS 5B 2,795 2,795 2,795
Due to non-controlling interests Féﬁﬁﬁ F% A% B8 2 1 0E 1,777 1,777 1,777
9,660 9,660 9,660

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2015
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #{2 —E—AF 1+ -A=+—HILFZ

27.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 27. €T A »

[C] INTEREST RATE RISK (C] i)z fz

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from the
Group’s other payables. Borrowings at variable rates
and at fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk and fair value interest rate risk respectively. The
Group does not use financial derivatives to hedge against
the interest rate risk. The Group’s interest rate profile as
monitored by management is set out below.

AEBZMERARERREAE
Bz EM RN IR - NEE 2R
FBREEMNRFEZER <
REBAD HIH LIRS REF E
R EAFEMNERER - AEE
3 8 A A 2 B 0T AE T R F R
Rk - AEBXEEEER A
RERE T

Effective Effective
interest interest
rate 2015 rate 2014
BERFE —T-HF EREANE —T-OF
% HK$000 % HK$ 000
TEx FET
Net fixed rate borrowings: BEEMHEE:

Other payables H AR FIR 25 1,881 25 1,776
Total net borrowings FEEERE 1,881 1,776
Net fixed rate borrowings as FEBEEBLFEELSE

a percentage of total ER

net borrowings 100% 100%
(i) Sensitivity analysis (i) BRBREDH

The management determines that the Group’s
exposure of interest rate risk was not significant and
hence no sensitivity analysis is prepared.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the ended of reporting period and had
been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk
for both derivative and non-derivative financial
instruments in existence at that date. The 50 basis
point increase or decrease represents management’s
assessment of a reasonably possible change in
interest rates over the period until the next year end
date. The analysis is performed on the same basis
for 2014.

EREETALENHTIEE
2K LR
S -

ERERE o AT TH R R R
ERANE BMEYRER
BITENMTESRMTAZ
) == & B o 50 18 £ B ) 18
mEoRd - HEREHES
T EFEAE B ILHEAN
K2 AR B E) 2 5T
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #{2 —E—AF 1+ -A=+—HILFZ

27.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 27. €T A »

(D) CURRENCY RISK (D] s)HEE foz

The majority of the Group’s transactions are denominated
in RMB. Presently, the Group has no hedging policy with
respect to its foreign exchange exposure.

With respect to receivables, payables, cash and bank
balances, and borrowings denominated in RMB which
are exposed to foreign currency risk. Depreciation or
appreciation of the RMB against can affect the Group’s
position, results and equity.

The carrying amount of the Group’s and the Company’s
foreign currency denominated financial assets and
financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as

REBABORHHNAREE
B BA ARBXEBMEER
[\ $H R o

MAREEFHERNRUYGOR - BN
PR - Be MRITHESREERIMNE
Rk - ARBHINERZBELTE
ATRES AR B MARN - AR

N
ISR o

RIFEHR - REBRARQAMN
INESHEZ ERMEERSRIABE
ZEEEEDT

follows:

2015 2014
S —T-mE
HK$°000 HK$'000
TET FH&IT

Assets BE
RMB AREE 89,531 18,880
UsD EyIH 851 12

Liabilities =L
RMB AREE 2,156 1,334
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #{2 —E—AF 1+ -A=+—HILFZ

27.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)
(D) CURRENCY RISK (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The Group mainly exposes to the currency of RMB. The
following table indicates the approximate decrease/
increase in the Group’s loss for the year in response to
reasonably possible changes in the foreign exchange rate
to which the Group has significant exposure at the end
of reporting period (2014: decrease/increase the Group’s
loss). 5% is the sensitivity rate used as it represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible

27. €M HE =
(D) SME5JE fez ()
BBE S

REBTERZARE ZRAR -
TRERNEBRINEEREL
BAlge s (RBEHRAER
BEEARKRIMNERER) - ffh
HAFEEAEEEBRENRD
M(ZE—NEF : AEBEHER
L 18N o {E 5% BERREL
?Bl%%f@)ﬁﬁwm’\—w\@ﬁ

change in foreign exchange rate. Ry SBR[ pLE
2015 2014
“B-AF —E-mE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
RMB AR¥E
— increase/decrease on — FREEEM RS
loss for the year (Z=2—F : x5E
(2014: decreasefincrease EER L 1)
the Group’s loss) 15 133
The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming BREDTMIIBRREZSEFHN®R

that the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred
at the end of the reporting period and had been applied
to each of the Group entities’ exposure to currency risk for
both derivative and non-derivative financial instruments
in existence at that date, and that all other variables, in
particular interest rates, remain constant.

HARBEE  WEEARASE
Rﬁﬁi‘f ‘ERFMESKREITE
RIESTEL BT A SEER -
LA&TE“”%EEI@“%{ (LER

PEHEEZREARLTF
“E-AFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —F—AF+=-HA=+—HIFZF

27.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 27. €T A »

[E] FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL (E] @ T Az FE

INSTRUMENTS

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined as follows:

o The fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities with standard terms and conditions and
traded in active markets are determined with
reference to quoted market bid and ask prices
respectively.

° The fair values of derivative instruments are
calculated using quoted prices. Where such prices
are not available, a discounted cash flow analysis
is performed using the applicable yield curve for
the duration of the instruments for non-optional
derivatives, and option pricing models for optional
derivatives. Interest rate swaps are measured at the
present value of future cash flows estimated and
discounted based on the applicable yield curves
derived from quoted interest rates.

o The fair values of other financial assets and financial
liabilities (excluding those described above) are
determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models mainly based on volatility of
difference on asset’s price analysis and discounted
cash flow analysis respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #{2 —E—AF 1+ -A=+—HILFZ

27.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(E] FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based
on the degree to which the fair value is observable:

° Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities;

° Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived
from inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e.
derived from prices); and

° Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived
from valuation techniques that include inputs for the
asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (unobservable inputs).

28. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As disclosed elsewhere in the notes to these consolidated
financial statements, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities as at 31 December 2015 (2014: Nil).

27. £/ T B )

28

(E] £/ T A2\ FE @)

AF{E

TRIBHAR S HREIRATE
AEZERIAEZHN  THiRE
NEEAHEREED A1 =34

e FIRAFEAEHHERE
EXRELRRTS ZRE
CREHAR) B -

o ZF2MATFEFEHFIR
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —F—AF+=-HA=+—HIFZF

29.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial

statements, the Group had the following material transactions

and balances with its related parties for the year ended 31
December 2015 and 2014:

(a)

(b)

(c)

On 27 September 2012, Keen Gate Developments Limited
(“Keen Gate”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group),
Mr. Ye De Chao (the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer,
an Executive Director and a substantial shareholder
of the Company — a connected person), Modern
Admission Group Limited, Mr. Lee Kai Choi and Forward
Investment had entered into a subscription agreement (the
“Subscription Agreement”) in relation to the subscription
of 40% equity interests in Forward Investment by
Keen Gate at a consideration of HK$300,000,000 (the
“Consideration”). The Subscription was completed on
10 December 2012. The transaction constituted a major
and connected transaction of the Company. Pursuant to
the Subscription Agreement, the Guarantors jointly and
severally undertake to Keen Gate that the return to Keen
Gate, being the dividend receivable from the Group’s
equity interest in Forward Investment, shall not be less
than 12% of the Consideration per annum. In the event
the return to Keen Gate falls below such threshold, the
Guarantors shall compensate the Subscriber on a dollar-
for-dollar basis (the “Return Undertaking”) in cash.

For the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, as
Forward Investment suffered loss and no dividend will be
declared, the Return Undertaking would be exercised. As
such, an amount of HK$36,000,000 was credited in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group
comprises amounts paid to the Company’s directors as
disclosed in note 7 and those highest paid employees
as disclosed in note 8 to these consolidated financial
statements.

Amount due to non-controlling interest of the 90% owned
subsidiary of the Group amounted to HK$187,000 (2014:
HK$1,777,000).
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30. COMMITMENTS

(a)

(b)

Commitments outstanding not provided for in these

consolidated financial statements were as follows:

30. &I

(a)

R A I WA A TS HRE
PR 2 AT ¢

2015 2014
—B-HF —TPF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FBT FiET
Commitments: HE
— contracted but not provided — HBRAREBEEIN
for the natural gas project BAREE 1,132 1,197

The total future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases in respect of properties are
payable and receivables as follows:

()

As lessee

The Group had total outstanding commitments for
future minimum lease payable under non-cancellable
operating leases in respect of properties, which fall

SRS 2 R A TR MR
REEK 2 R RS EBHN R E
m

(i) EREBEA

REERBY R T A BEHE
LHOR THIHREZIA 2R
B8 R REENEEAE

due as follows: BEBINT
2015 2014
—E-HF —T-MmF
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FET
No later than 1 year —FNKX 728 728

Later than 1 year and —FBRERFR

no later than 5 years — —
728 728

The Group has no contingent rentals and sub-
lease payments received for the years ended 31
December 2015 and 2014.

BE-_ZT—AFE-_F—N
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —F—AF+=-HA=+—HIFZF

31.ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

(A] KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
which are described in note 2, management has made
the following judgements that have a significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements. The key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are

discussed below.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
often requires the use of judgement to select specific
accounting methods and policies from several acceptable
alternatives. Estimates and judgements used in preparing
the consolidated financial statements are continually
evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
followings are the more significant assumptions and
estimates, as well as the accounting policies and methods
used in the preparation of the consolidated financial

statements:
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31.ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(B) CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT IN
APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Certain critical accounting judgements in applying the

Group’s accounting policies are described below.

(i)

Impairment of assets

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount of an asset or a
cash-generating unit has been determined based
on the asset’s fair value less costs to sell. These
assessments require the use of estimates.

The fair value less costs to sell primarily use
cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management and estimated terminal
values at the end of the reporting period. There are
a number of assumptions and estimates involved
for the preparation of cash flow projections for the
period covered by the approved budget and the
estimated terminal value. Key assumptions include
the expected growth in revenues and operating
margin, effective tax rate, growth rates and selection
of discount rates, to reflect the risks involved and
the earnings multiple that can be realised for the
estimated terminal value.

Management prepared the financial budgets
reflecting actual and prior year performance and
market development expectations. Judgement is
required to determine key assumptions adopted
in the cash flow projections and changes to key
assumptions can significantly affect these cash
flow projections and therefore the results of the
impairment reviews.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #{2 —E—AF 1+ -A=+—HILFZ

31.ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(B] CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT IN
APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Provision for impairment of trade and other
receivables

The Group has no significant concentration of
credit risk. The Group makes impairment loss
for receivables based on an assessment of the
recoverability of trade and other receivables.
Allowances are made for trade and other receivables
where events or changes in circumstance indicate
that the balances may not be collectible based on
primarily the ageing of trade and other receivables
and the historical write-off experience, net of
recoveries. The identification of doubtful debts
requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where
the expectation is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying value of
receivables and allowance for doubtful debt in the
period in which such estimates has been changed.

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Property, plant and equipment except construction-
in-progress are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives, after taking
into account of their estimated residual value.
The determination of the useful lives and residual
values involve management’s estimation. The Group
assesses annually the residual value and the useful
life of property, plant and equipment and if the
expectation differs from the original estimate, such
a difference may impact the depreciation in the year
and in the future period.
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31.ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 31. B AT R HE =

J U DG E M E NTS (Continued)

(B) FE/H A E S BUR AT
1Et 2 BEAXEETHEF (=)

(B] CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT IN
APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

livl 1% - BERRERE

(iv] Impairment of property, plant and

equipment

The Group’s property, plant and equipment

REEZME - BFEREE

represent a significant portion of the Group’s total EAEEREE 2 EEHAK
assets. Changes in industry conditions may cause B o TEBR BB

the estimated period of use or the value of these
assets to change. Long-lived assets including
property, plant and equipment are reviewed for
impairment at least annually or whenever events or
changes in circumstances have indicated that their
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated.

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its net selling price and value in use.
In assessing value in use, estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset, which requires significant
judgement relating to the level of revenue and
amount of operating costs. The Group uses all
readily available information in determining an
amount that is a reasonable approximation of the
recoverable amount, including estimates based
on reasonable and supportable assumptions
and projections of revenue and operating costs.
Changes in these estimates could have a significant
impact on the carrying value of the assets and could
result in additional impairment charge or reversal of
impairment in future periods.
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31.ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(B] CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT IN
APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(v]

(vi)

Impairment of intangible assets

The recoverable amounts of the intangible assets
have been determined based on value-in-use
calculations. The value-in-use calculation requires
the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the intangible assets and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
The management refers to the valuation performed
by independent qualified valuers. In performing
the valuation, the valuers have based on method
of valuation which involves certain estimates and
assumptions.

The Group’s management determines the provision
for impairment of receivables under concession
agreement. This estimates and assumptions made by
management on the future operation of the business,
pre-tax discount rates, and other assumptions
underlying the value-in-use calculations.

Current income taxes

Significant judgement is required in determining
the provision for income taxes. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises liabilities
for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates
of whether additional taxes will be due. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the income tax in the period
in which such determination is made.
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32.SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 32.£ER#EEE

A disposal agreement dated 20 March 2013 in relation to
the disposal of 49% equity interests in It R IBLEALIRER
#ABMR A (Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy Investment
Consulting Co., Ltd.*) (the “Intermediate Holding Company”)
and the cancellation of the option to acquire the remaining
51% effective interest in the Intermediate Holding Company
was entered into by the Company and the Purchasers
for an aggregate consideration of HK$315,000,000 (the
“Changdongshun Disposal”). Up to 7 January 2016, the
Group had received from the Purchasers an aggregate of the
whole amount of the consideration of HK$315,000,000 for the
Changdongshun Disposal, the whole amount of the advance
amounting to HK$11,270,000 by the Group to 1t &R JBIR
SFBRZAF (Beijing Changdongshun Gas Limited*) (“Beijing
Changdongshun”) and the loan amounting to RMB10,000,000
provided by the Group to Beijing Changdongshun plus the
loan’s interests. By then, all the conditions precedent for the
Changdongshun Disposal has been fulfilled. The Company
is in the process of transferring the 49% equity interest in the
Intermediate Holding Company to the Purchasers in order to
complete the Changdongshun Disposal.

ARRIHEETRZE—=F=HA=+
AR St R BLREREZABR
AE] ([HEZERARL) 2 49% I&#E A
KT HBBEREIERARBRTHI%E
B BiEMET L —THE 1 -
# {8 A 315,000,00078 7T ([ E KRB
HEZE]) HE-_T—X<F— A+t
H A&EBEREFERIRSRIED
EEIH 2 BEHE MR (B FKIE 315,000,000
B AEBMIERERIERARER
A ([t RERIE]) 1Rt 2 BERK
11,270,000 T R A EE ML R E R
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

AFHHREE

AY I V'3 i
RESULTS E 45
For the year ended 31 December
BEt-A=t-BLEE
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
—E-Hf “E-QmF —E-=f —E--Ff —E——F%
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT THET FAT FET THEL
(restated)
(=751
Turnover EEE 22,133 43,966 6,683 13,617 2,659
Profit/(loss) attributable to /NGIE 2N/
owners of the Company w5Fl/ (B18) 5,249 16,370 (85,148) (15,414) (22,755)
Dividends e - — — — —
Basis earnings/(loss) per share  BREAEF]/ (BE) 0.12centsfll  0.38centsfll  (1.99 centsfll) (0.36 centsfll) (0.54 centslll)
Diluted earnings per share BREERT N/ARE R N/A 7N N/A A N/ANEF N/ANEF
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
At 31 December
R+=A=+-~H
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
“E-nf —FT-@mF —£-=f —T-—F —T——F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET AT TAT THT
(restated)
(=51
Total assets BERE 1,116,476 946,660 934,270 1,140,736 1,249,973
Total liabilities aEes (228,752) (27,709) (28,307) (160,082) 250,356
NET ASSETS AEFE 887,724 918,951 905,963 980,654 999,617
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GROUP PROPERTIES
B

At 31 December 20156 R = FE—H#E+-H=+—H

Total gross Total
floor area site area Group’s Estimated
Stage of Category of BEEEE B BEE interest ~ date of

Location Intended use  completion lease term (sg.m.) (sg.m.) AE@MzEZE completion
g RERR TREE BLEHER (F7K) (FIK) (%) BERIRH
Property under development £ Z 1%
Huijinxintiandi Plaza, Commercial Topping-up work Long Approximately  Approximately 40 The project

No. 11 Shengtai Road,  premises completed =31 #)74,642 #720,051 is expected

Moling Jiedao, HENE and interior to be completed

Jiangning District, construction in 2016

Nanjing City, Property under ~ work in %A B B

Jiangsu Province, development  progress “ENE

the PRC ERME HIETEE TR - Rk
HRETEHE ENRETR

HRmIER IFEETH

PRIEETBRE AR 115

ESH KRS

FEEZREBRAR

—E-AEFER
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Group Properties

EELYES

At 31 December 2015 R —FE—FHF+-H=+—H

Total gross
floor area Group’s
Category of BRI interest
Location Intended use lease term (sq. m.) AEE S
vE BERR HYOFHE R (FFF7K) (%)
Properties held for sale #{EH &%
Rooms 810 and 1706 in Block 8 of Residential/Commercial Long Approximately 40
Huijinjiulong Commercial Street, premises = Hf #)116.67
No. 699 Chengxin, BV -E27/ES
Main Road,
Moling Jiedao,
Jiangning District,
Nanjing City,
Jiangsu Province,
the PRC
RETEA
ERMIERR
ToRBzE BT 3B 3B 5 K38 699 5%
ELNERFEEFEE
810 X 1706 =
Rooms 101 to 104 in Block 47 Residential/Commercial Long Approximately 40
and Rooms 101 to 104 in premises A3 #91,710.89
Block 48 of Hongjingya Villa, T TEME

No. 2888 Hongjing, Main Road,
Moling Jiedao,
Jiangning District,
Nanjing City,
Jiangsu Province,
the PRC

RETEA
ARTIER
IR E AR KB
2888 57 sAR HEEE
EATIE101E104E
RE481E101 E104E
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Kowloon, Hong Kong

BENBELDEERBEISR
BRI AE6E12E1205F
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